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Linde Financial Highlights

January to 
september 

2013

January to 
september 

2012
adjusted 1 change

share      

Closing price € 146.40 134.00 9.3 %
Year high  € 153.90 136.15 13.0 %
Year low € 128.60 114.20 12.6 %
Market capitalisation (at closing price on 30 September) € million 27,174 24,806 9.5 %

Adjusted earnings per share 2 € 5.90 5.79 1.9 %
earnings per share – undiluted € 5.38 5.09 5.7 %
Number of shares outstanding at the end of the reporting period in 000s 185,613 185,116 0.3 %

group    
Revenue  € million 12,468 11,469 8.7 %
Operating profit 3  € million 2,996 2,680 11.8 %
Operating margin in % 24.0 23.4 +60 bp5
EBIT  € million 1,644 1,515 8.5 %
profit for the period  € million 1,078 971 11.0 %
Number of employees 4 63,185 62,765 0.7 %

gases division    
Revenue € million 10,510 9,620 9.3 %
Operating profit  € million 2,913 2,607 11.7 %

Operating margin in % 27.7 27.1 +60 bp5

engineering division    

Revenue  € million 2,068 1,740 18.9 %

Operating profit  € million 225 214 5.1 %

Operating margin in % 10.9 12.3 –140 bp5

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report. 
2 Adjusted for the effects of the BOC purchase price allocation. 
3 EBIT adjusted for amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets. 
4 At 30 September 2013 / 31 December 2012.
5 basis points.



Linde interim report
[9M – JANUARY TO SepTeMbeR 2013]

 group revenue up 8.7 percent to EUR 12.468 bn

  group operating profit¹ increases by 11.8 percent to EUR 2.996 bn

  group operating margin rises to 24.0 percent (2012: 23.4 percent)

 group outlook for 2013 in view of unfavourable exchange rate effects: 
increase in revenue; operating profit target now around EUR 4 bn 

1 Operating profit: EBIT adjusted for amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets.

January to september 2013:  
Linde gives a steady business perFormance
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Linde interim report
[9M – JANUARY TO SepTeMbeR 2013] group interim 

 management 
 report 

general economic environment

growth in the global economy in the first nine months 
of 2013 was moderate, repeating the trend seen over the 
course of 2012. economic experts are expecting these mod-
est growth rates to continue to apply in the last three 
months of 2013. the international forecasting institute the 
economist intelligence unit Ltd. (EIU)¹ has again revised its 
estimates down when compared with its forecast at the 
end of the first half of 2013. economists are now predicting 
an increase of only 2.1 percent in global gross domestic 
product (GDP) for the full year 2013 (H1 report: 2.2 percent). 
this means that growth in the global economy in 2013 is 
expected to be below the 2012 figure of 2.4 percent.

the forecast for global industrial production (IP) has also 
been revised down. Here, the EIU is now predicting an in-
crease of only 1.6 percent for the year 2013 ( compared with 
the 2012 figure of 1.4 percent). at the end of the first half of 
2013, the forecast was for an increase in IP of 1.9 percent.

major factors hindering economic development still 
include high levels of sovereign debt in major economies, 
currency fluctuations, high unemployment in many in-
dustrialised countries and political unrest in parts of the 
arab world. 

structural growth in the emerging economies remains 
the most important driver of global economic trends over 
the coming years. in addition, the global megatrends, en-
ergy, the environment and health, should provide the 
 greatest stimuli to growth in the long term.

economists are expecting that there will continue to 
be considerable variations in economic trends in different 
regions of the world in the current year 2013, although 
in two of the three world regions lower growth rates are 
being assumed than was the case at the end of the first 
half of 2013.

the experts continue to expect that the fastest rates of 
growth for the full year 2013 will again be in the  asia / pacific 
region. the EIU is forecasting an increase in GDP here of 
5.5 percent (H1 report: 5.6 percent).  china is once again 
expected to be out in front, with a forecast increase in 
GDP of 7.5 percent, the same figure as in the H1 report. 
above-average growth is also again being forecast for 
india. the EIU estimates that economic output here will 
rise by 5.0 percent (H1 report: 5.8 percent). in  australia, 

the institute continues to expect growth of 2.6 percent. 
this increase will primarily come from the expansion of 
the service sector, whereas forecasts are continuing to 
indicate a weaker economic environment in manufactur-
ing industry and in the mining industry.

the economy in the EMEA region ( europe, middle east, 
africa) is expected to grow at a significantly slower rate 
than that in the asia/pacific region, although the fore-
casts for some areas in the EMEA region have recently been 
revised slightly up. When considering the EMEA region as 
a whole, economists are anticipating a slight increase in 
GDP for the year 2013 of 0.6 percent (H1 report: 0.5 percent). 

prospects in the eurozone have also improved slightly. 
the decline in economic output is now expected to be 
0.5 percent, compared with the 0.8 percent fall forecast by 
the EIU at the end of the first half of the year. economists 
are now predicting growth in  germany of 0.5 percent for 
the full year 2013. in comparison, when the half-yearly 
 report was published, an increase in GDP of only 0.1  percent 
was forecast here. 

economic trends in the regions of eastern  europe, the 
middle east and africa have proved relatively robust, al-
though the economic outlook for the full year 2013 has 
been revised down slightly in each of the three regions. 
based on the most recent EIU estimates, growth in the cur-
rent year is expected to be 1.8 percent in eastern  europe 
(H1 report:2.0 percent), 3.7 percent in the  middle east 
( H1 report:4.0 percent) and 4.1 percent in africa (H1 report:
4.2 percent).

the growth forecast for the americas region as a 
whole in 2013 is currently 1.7 percent, which is also below 
the figure forecast at the end of the first half of the year 
(2.1 percent). economists are now expecting an increase 
in GDP in the united states of only 1.6 percent (H1 report: 
2.0 percent), while economic output in south america is 
expected to rise by 2.8 percent (H1 report: 3.0 percent). 
the estimates for brazil, the largest economy in the re-
gion, have also again been revised down. Here, the EIU 
is now anticipating that GDP in the full year 2013 will in-
crease by only 2.0 percent (H1 report: 2.5 percent). 

change in accounting policies

From 1 January 2013, Linde has applied the new account-
ing standards IFRS 10 consolidated Financial statements 
and IFRS 11 Joint arrangements. as a result, the method 
of consolidation for joint ventures has changed. some of 
these are now fully consolidated and some are included 
in the consolidated financial statements on the basis of 
the share of equity held by Linde. as these standards 
have been applied with retrospective effect from the 
date of acquisition or formation of the joint venture and 
this has an impact on virtually all the items in the state-
ment of financial position and statement of profit or loss, 
all the prior-year figures in the group interim report have 
been adjusted. the application of the new accounting 
standards resulted in slightly higher figures for revenue 

GROUP INTER IM 
 MANAGEMENT  REPORT
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1 © 2013 The economist Intelligence Unit Ltd. All rights reserved.
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and earnings. the impact on the overall financial posi-
tion, net assets and results of operations of the group 
is insignificant.
For further details about the first-time adoption of IFRS 10 
and IFRS 11, see N ote [1]  “general accounting policies” 
on page s 22 to 28  of the notes to the group interim 
financial statements. 

group

in the third quarter of 2013, the technology company the 
Linde group gave a relatively steady business perfor-
mance, achieving significant growth in group revenue 
and group operating profit in the nine months ended 
30  september 2013. although the economy was anything 
but dynamic (especially in the mature markets) and eco-
nomic output in some emerging economies has recently 
been lower than originally forecast, the group has been 
able to continue to give a steady business performance. 
the operations in the Healthcare product area acquired in 
the course of the 2012 financial year and positive trends 
in the engineering division made a particular contribu-
tion here.

in the first nine months of the current financial year, 
group revenue rose by 8.7 percent to EUR 12.468 bn, com-
pared with EUR 11.469 bn in the first nine months of 2012. 
during the reporting period, exchange rate fluctuations 
increasingly had an adverse impact on revenue trends, 
especially in the third quarter. exchange rate effects have 
arisen purely on the translation of various local currencies 
into the reporting currency (the euro) at the end of the re-
porting period. in particular, the australian dollar and the 
US dollar, the british pound and currencies in the emerging 
economies fell sharply against the euro. after adjusting 
for these effects (corresponding to revenue of EUR 407 m), 
the increase in revenue was 12.7 percent. US homecare 
company Lincare, acquired by Linde in august 2012, con-
tributed EUR 1.176 bn to group revenue.

Linde was able to reinforce its profitability at a high level 
and increased its group operating profit by 11.8  percent to 
EUR 2.996 bn (2012: EUR 2.680 bn). as a result, the group 
operating margin rose to 24.0 percent (2012: 23.4  percent). 
one item contributing to the earnings trend was income 
of EUR 57 m resulting from a dividend payment made by a 
company in north america in which Linde holds an invest-
ment. on the other hand, adverse currency  fluctuations 
also had an impact. the effect of these distortions was 
to reduce earnings by EUR 88 m. Without the distortions, 
Linde would have achieved a 15.6 percent increase in group 
operating profit.

the rigorous implementation of Linde’s holistic con-
cept for sustainable process optimisation and productiv-
ity gains (High performance organisation or HPO) has also 
contributed towards maintaining the group’s high level of 
profitability. Linde is continuing to apply these efficiency 
improvement measures. 

EBIT rose by 8.5 percent in the nine months to 30 septem-
ber 2013 to EUR 1.644 bn (2012: EUR 1.515 bn). it should be 
noted that amortisation and depreciation increased by 
EUR 187 m to EUR 1.352 bn (2012: EUR 1.165 bn). this was due 
mainly to the rise in the figure for current amortisation and 
depreciation as a result of investment. during the report-
ing period, Linde also recognised an expense of EUR 90 m 
for the amortisation of fair value adjustments. these were 
identified in the course of purchase price allocations re-
lating to the acquisition of Lincare and the purchase of 
air products’ continental  european homecare business. in 
addition, an exceptional amortisation and depreciation 
charge of EUR 59 m has been recognised in the americas 
reportable segment. 

the net financial expense in the nine months ended 
30 september 2013 was EUR 288 m (2012: EUR 251 m). there 
are two reasons for the increase in the net financial ex-
pense. First, the figure for the prior-year period included 
income from currency hedging relating to the Lincare trans-
action and, secondly, finance income from embedded fi-
nance leases in the first nine months of 2013 was lower 
than in the prior-year period.

Linde therefore generated a profit before tax in the first 
nine months of 2013 of EUR 1.356 bn (2012: EUR 1.264 bn). 

the income tax expense was EUR 278 m (2012: EUR 293 m). 
the release of tax provisions following the completion of 
tax audits and an adjustment to the deferred tax  liability 
as a result of tax rate reductions in the UK both had a 
positive impact on the income tax rate, which fell from 
23.2 percent in the first nine months of 2012 to 20.5 per-
cent in the first nine months of 2013. Linde’s profit for the 
period (after deducting the tax expense) was EUR 1.078 bn 
(2012: EUR 971 m).

after adjusting for non-controlling interests, profit 
for the period attributable to Linde AG shareholders was 
EUR 997 m (2012: EUR 893 m). this gives earnings per share 
of EUR 5.38 (2012: EUR 5.09). on an adjusted basis, i.e. after 
adjusting for the effects of the purchase price  allocation 
from the BOC acquisition, earnings per share stood at 
EUR 5.90 (2012: EUR 5.79).

gases division

Linde is one of the leading companies in the international 
gases industry and is extremely well-positioned, especially 
in the emerging economies. on the basis of its global foot-
print and well-balanced spread across different sectors, 
Linde is able to compensate better for faltering demand 
in some markets than companies which do not have such 
a broad international base.

revenue in the gases division in the first nine months 
of 2013 grew 9.3 percent to EUR 10.510 bn, compared with 
EUR 9.620 bn for the prior-year period. during the report-
ing period, the Lincare business contributed revenue of 
EUR 1.176 bn to the total revenue of the gases division. 
on a comparable basis (i.e. after adjusting for exchange 
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rate  effects, changes in the price of natural gas and the 
impact on the consolidation of the Lincare acquisition), 
the increase in revenue was 3.3 percent. Within the 
gases  division,  Lincare is included in the americas re-
portable segment and the Healthcare product area. 

the group’s share of revenue from its interests in joint 
ventures (not included in the revenue of the division) 
was EUR 97 m in the nine months to 30 september 2013 
(2012: EUR 95 m).

in the third quarter of 2013 in particular, growth in the 
gases division was affected by unfavourable exchange 
rate movements. during this period, revenue remained at 
the same level as in the third quarter of 2012 (EUR 3.489 bn). 
if an adjustment is made for exchange rate effects, the 
rate of growth in the third quarter of 2013 would have 
been 7.5 percent. 

Linde’s gases division achieved an 11.7 percent increase 
in operating profit in the nine months to 30 september 2013 
to EUR 2.913 bn (2012: EUR 2.607 bn). this gives an operating 
margin of 27.7 percent (2012: 27.1 percent). 

business trends in the individual segments in the 
gases division varied in each case, depending on pre-
vailing economic conditions.

eMea
in the EMEA reportable segment ( europe, middle east, 
 africa), the group’s largest sales market, Linde saw slight 
revenue growth of 1.1 percent in the first nine months of 
2013 to EUR 4.569 bn (2012: EUR 4.518 bn). on a compara-
ble basis, the growth in revenue here was 4.1 percent. 
operating profit improved by 2.7 percent to EUR 1.314 bn 
(2012: EUR 1.280 bn). the operating margin therefore rose 
to 28.8 percent (2012: 28.3 percent). 

in virtually all parts of the EMEA region, the on-site 
business saw positive trends. in  germany, the UK and 
 eastern  europe, for example, Linde achieved above- 
average growth rates in this product area during the re-
porting period, paving the way for further expansion in 
its on-site business. back in may 2013, the group signed 
a long-term on-site agreement with SSI steel UK to supply 
the company with gaseous oxygen, nitrogen and argon 
on its teesside site in england. the agreement also cov-
ers the expansion of three existing air separation plants 
and the modernisation of the current pipeline network. 
over the next two years, Linde will be investing GBP 25 m 
in this project. 

in eastern  europe, the start-up of the air separation 
plant in temirtau, Kazakhstan, made a significant contri-
bution to the strengthening of the on-site business. this 
large air separation plant, the first of its kind in the country, 
was brought on stream by Linde in march 2013 and is now 
working at full capacity. Further momentum was generated 
in the region in the second quarter of 2013 with the start 
of production at an air separation plant in Kaluga,  russia. 
From this plant, Linde supplies steel-producer ZAO KNPEMZ 
with industrial gases and also serves the liquefied gases 
market in the moscow region and neighbouring areas. 

in addition, Linde entered into a long-term contract in 
June 2013 for the supply of gases to the company SIBUR on 
its site in dzerzhinsk,  russia. the agreement also encom-
passes the construction and operation of two air separa-
tion plants. investment in the project is around EUR 70 m. 
SIBUR is the largest petrochemical group in  russia and 
eastern  europe. 

in a joint venture with JSC Kuibyshevazot, Linde is to 
provide long-term supplies of ammonia to the chemical 
company in togliatti in  russia. both partners signed an 
agreement to this effect in may 2013, which involves the 
construction of a large ammonia plant and an investment 
of around EUR 275 m. Linde and JSC Kuibyshevazot each 
hold 50 percent of the shares in the newly-formed com-
pany, Linde nitrogen togliatti. 

during the reporting period, the general market envi-
ronment in eastern  europe (with the exception of  russia) 
was characterised by a downturn in economic activity. this 
had an adverse impact on volume trends in the liquefied 
gases and cylinder gas business.

the economy in the middle east on the other hand 
remained relatively robust. in the third quarter of 2013, 
Linde started supplying customers in Qatar from its new 
helium source (Helium ii). this helium source, the largest 
in the world, is operated by ras gas in ras Laffan indus-
trial park. Linde had previously secured long-term rights 
to 30 percent of the output.

the current global helium market is affected by the 
short supply of helium resources. the rare gas is required, 
for example, in the production of MRI scanners and the 
manufacture of semiconductors and LCD screens. With 
Helium ii, Linde now has the widest portfolio of sources 
within the industry. the group has invested more than 
EUR 35 m in new helium tanks to supply the rare gas to 
its customers. 

business in the EMEA region expanded partly as a re-
sult of the contribution made by the continental  european 
homecare operations acquired by Linde from air products 
in april 2012. other factors helping to reinforce Linde’s 
market position in  europe were its acquisition of French 
homecare-provider calea  France SAS and its purchase of 
the remaining shares in former joint venture OCAP. dutch 
company OCAP is a specialist provider which supplies re-
cycled carbon dioxide to greenhouses. both transactions 
were completed in the first quarter of 2013. 

business trends in the EMEA region were adversely 
affected by the prevailing unfavourable economic condi-
tions in the eurozone. demand in the liquefied gases and 
cylinder gas product areas, which had been modest in the 
first half of 2013, did however revive in the third quarter.

L I N D E  I N t E r I m  r E P O r t  J A N U A r Y  t O  S E P t E m b E r  2 0 13



4

asia/pacific
in the asia/pacific reportable segment, Linde generated 
revenue in the first nine months of 2013 of EUR 2.843 bn, 
a figure which was not quite as high as the figure of 
EUR 2.884 bn achieved in the first nine months of 2012. 
this was mainly as a result of unfavourable exchange rate 
effects. on a comparable basis, revenue rose by 3.8  percent. 
business performance was adversely affected in particular 
by the weaker economic environment in the manufacturing 
industry and in the mining industry in the south pacific re-
gion. operating profit in the asia/pacific segment remained 
virtually unchanged at EUR 747 m for the nine months to 
30 september 2013 (2012: EUR 743 m). the operating margin 
therefore rose to 26.3 percent (2012: 25.8 percent).

Within the segment, the most positive trends were to 
be seen in the business in the south & east asia region, 
where the rate of growth was into double digits. Linde 
achieved above-average increases in revenue, for exam-
ple, in south Korea and singapore. 

in the region, Linde saw volume increases in virtually 
all product areas, especially in the on-site business. the 
group benefited in particular here from the ramp-up of 
an air separation plant to supply tata steel in  Jamshedpur, 
india. the plant is the largest of its kind in india. the start 
of operations at an air separation plant in sri Lanka also 
boosted the region’s good performance. the plant  produces 
oxygen, nitrogen and argon and is the biggest plant of its 
type in the country.

as a result of the start-up and ramp-up of new plants 
and against a background of higher volumes in the cylinder 
gas product area, Linde also generated revenue growth 
in the greater  china region during the reporting period. 
the market for electronic gases, on the other hand, was 
characterised by slightly declining volumes.

operations began in the third quarter at the air sepa-
ration plant built by Linde for the on-site supply of gases 
to chinese steel-producer Fujian Fuxin special steel on 
the Zhangzhou site. 

production started in the second quarter of 2013 at an 
air separation plant built by Linde on the site at  guangzhou. 
this plant supplies liquefied gases and cylinder gas to 
customers in the region.

revenue also rose during the reporting period in the 
greater  china region as a result of Linde assuming respon-
sibility in the 2012 financial year for the supply of gases to 
the chemical company dahua group on the songmu island 
site in dalian. Linde operates two air separation plants here 
under an on-site contract. Linde is also going to build a 
new air separation plant in dalian with a production ca-
pacity of 38,000 normal cubic metres of oxygen per hour.

revenue growth in the greater  china region slowed 
as a result of the reversal of a contract to purchase air 
separation plants which had been transferred to Linde in 
2012 by a steel company.

in contrast to the situation in the south & east asia and 
greater  china regions, the market in the south  pacific re-
gion was characterised by significant declines in volumes. 

except in the service sector, the economy here remained 
weak. moreover, the mild winter in this region had an ad-
verse impact on the LPG (Liquefied petroleum gas) business.

americas
in the americas reportable segment, Linde generated reve-
nue growth in the first nine months of 2013 of 38.8  percent 
to EUR 3.190 bn (2012: EUR 2.299 bn). this considerable in-
crease was due above all to the contribution made by US 
homecare company Lincare. Linde completed its acquisition 
of this company in august 2012. Lincare operates solely in 
north america and contributed revenue of EUR 1.176 bn in 
the first nine months of the current year to the total reve-
nue of the americas reportable segment. on a comparable 
basis (i.e. after adjusting for exchange rate effects and 
changes in the price of natural gas and the effect of the 
Lincare acquisition on the consolidation), the increase in 
revenue in this segment was 2.1 percent.

operating profit rose by 45.9 percent to EUR 852 m (2012: 
EUR 584 m), mainly as a result of the Lincare business. the 
operating margin was 26.7 percent (2012: 25.4 percent). one 
item contributing to the earnings trend in the americas 
segment was income of EUR 57 m which Linde received 
during the reporting period in the form of a dividend pay-
ment from a company in which it holds an investment. 

in north america, there were positive trends in the 
electronic gases business, particularly in relation to tech-
nical material and equipment. Linde also achieved growth 
in the liquefied gases and cylinder gas market, while the 
on-site business was characterised by declining volumes. 

in delta, ohio, the group brought on stream a nitrogen 
liquefaction plant in the second quarter of 2013, thereby 
expanding its capacity in the midwest of the united states 
as planned.

in June 2013, Linde announced that it was going to 
continue to develop the supply of gases at its major petro-
chemical site La porte in texas. Linde will build a large air 
separation plant there as well as installing a new gasifi-
cation train for its existing synthesis gas complex. it will 
also supply related equipment and infrastructure elements. 
Linde will be investing a total of more than USD 200 m in this 
project. the new plants are due to come on stream in 2015.

the new air separation plant will be the largest plant 
of this type operated by Linde in the united states. to-
gether with the new gasification unit, it will also com-
prise the largest complex in the world for the production 
and subsequent processing of synthesis gas to be based 
on natural gas. in the Houston area, Linde will therefore 
have a fully-integrated site for the production of air gases 
and syngas products. this expansion project will enable 
Linde to provide an even better service in future to its 
customers in the petrochemical industry in La porte. this 
industry sector is once again a growth market, especially 
against the background of the increasing exploitation of 
shale gas reserves in the united states.

during the reporting period, Linde and sapphire  energy 
decided to expand their partnership to commercialise a 
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new industrial-scale conversion technology needed to 
upgrade algae biomass into crude oil. the two companies 
will build upon their already successful strategic partner-
ship to refine the hydrothermal treatment process, which 
uses high temperatures to exploit the whole of the algae 
cell. the agreement spans a minimum of five years through 
the development of sapphire’s first commercial-scale 
 algae-to-energy production facility.

Linde was also able to continue to strengthen its 
business in south america during the reporting period, 
above all generating increased revenue in venezuela and 
 argentina. above-average growth was achieved here in 
the liquefied gases and cylinder gas product areas as well 
as in the Healthcare business. 

Linde’s business performance in brazil, south america’s 
largest market, was much more modest than that seen 
in venezuela and argentina. an exceptional amortisation 
and depreciation charge of EUR 59 m was recognised there 
during the reporting period. this charge was deemed nec-
essary following a reassessment of local market conditions.

product areas
as explained in the comments on the reportable segments, 
each product area contributed to a different extent to the 
business performance of the gases division. the fastest 
rate of growth achieved by Linde was in the Healthcare 
product area, following the acquisitions made by the group 
in the course of 2012. the group generated revenue in this 
product area in the first nine months of 2013 of EUR 2.263 bn, 
almost double the figure achieved in the first nine months 
of 2012 of EUR 1.265 bn. after adjusting for exchange rate 
effects and the effect of the Lincare acquisition on the 
consolidation, revenue growth in the Healthcare business 
was 5.5 percent.

in the on-site business (where Linde supplies gases on 
site to major customers), revenue rose on a comparable 
basis by 5.1 percent to EUR 2.668 bn (2012: EUR 2.539 bn). 
growth in this product area was adversely affected by the 
reversal of a contract to purchase air separation plants 
which had been transferred to Linde in 2012 by a steel 
company in the greater  china region. if an adjustment is 
made for this, the increase in revenue would have been 
5.9 percent. 

in the cylinder gas product area, Linde achieved an 
increase in revenue on a comparable basis in the nine 
months to 30 september 2013 of 1.3 percent to EUR 3.076 bn 
(2012: EUR 3.037 bn). in the liquefied gases product area, 
revenue generated was EUR 2.503 bn. on a comparable 
basis, this was 2.0 percent above the figure for the first 
nine months of 2012 of EUR 2.453 bn.

1 Gases Division: Revenue anD opeRatinG pRofit by RepoRtable seGment

in € million

January to september 2013 January to september 2012 adjusted 1

revenue
Operating 

profit

Operating
margin

in percent revenue
Operating 

profit

Operating
margin

in percent

EMEA 4,569 1,314 28.8 4,518 1,280 28.3

asia/pacific 2,843 747 26.3 2,884 743 25.8

americas 3,190 852 26.7 2,299 584 25.4

consolidation – 92 – – – 81 – –

GAsEs DIvIsION 10,510 2,913 27.7 9,620 2,607 27.1

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.

2 Gases Division: Revenue anD opeRatinG pRofit by RepoRtable seGment

in € million

3rd Quarter 2013 3rd Quarter 2012 adjusted 1

revenue
Operating 

profit 

Operating
margin

in percent revenue
Operating 

profit

Operating
margin

in percent

EMEA 1,523 438 28.8 1,544 436 28.2

asia/pacific 946 250 26.4 1,029 259 25.2

americas 1,053 310 29.4 947 233 24.6

consolidation –33 – – –31 – –

GAsEs DIvIsION 3,489 998 28.6 3,489 928 26.6

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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engineering division

in Linde’s engineering division, the first nine months of 
2013 saw the continuation of a dynamic trend in orders 
when compared with the prior-year period. in the third 
quarter of 2013, Linde was also awarded new projects, 
especially in the energy and chemical sectors. as a re-
sult, there was a significant increase in order intake in 
the nine months to 30 september 2013 of 74.7 percent to 
EUR 3.661 bn (2012: EUR 2.095 bn). 

revenue and earnings reflected the progress made on 
individual plant construction projects. there was a rise in 
revenue in the first nine months of 2013 of 18.9 percent 
to EUR 2.068 bn (2012: EUR 1.740 bn), while operating profit 
increased by 5.1 percent to EUR 225 m (2012: EUR 214 m). at 
10.9 percent, the operating margin did not reach the ex-
ceptionally high figure achieved in the  prior-year  period 
of 12.3 percent, but did again reach a level well above the 
 industry average. 

in the third quarter of 2013, Linde won a contract in 
saudi arabia to build the world’s largest plant for the pu-
rification and liquefaction of carbon dioxide (CO2) in the 
Jubail industrial park. the contract was awarded by Jubail 
united petrochemical company, a subsidiary of saudi basic 
industries corporation. the plant will have a capacity of 
1,500 tonnes of CO2 per day and will source the CO2 from 
two nearby ethylene-glycol plants. via a pipeline network, 
the CO2 will then be used in the production of methanol 
and urea. methanol is a basic product in the chemical in-
dustry, while urea is used for example in the manufacture 
of fertilisers. carbon dioxide recycling via this project will 
save around 500,000 tonnes of carbon emissions per year. 

in the second quarter of 2013, Linde was awarded two 
significant contracts in  russia. in a joint venture with 
chemical company JSC Kuibyshevazot, Linde will build and 
 operate a large ammonia plant on the  togliatti site in the 
samara region. investment in this project will total around 
EUR 275 m. the ultra-modern and highly  energy-efficient 
on-site plant will have a production capacity of 1,340 
tonnes of ammonia per day. completion of the plant is 
expected in 2016. 

under a long-term on-site agreement, Linde will supply 
gases to the petrochemical company SIBUR in dzerzhinsk 
in the nizhny novgorod region. to do so, it will build and 
operate two new air separation plants. at the same time, 
Linde is modernising the four existing air separation plants 
on the site. investment in this project is around EUR 70 m. 
the new plants will have a total production capacity of 
around 30,000 normal cubic metres of gaseous oxygen 
per hour. 

these two orders will enable Linde to strengthen its 
position as a leading gases and engineering company in 
the growth market of  russia.

in the promising region of asia, the group was also able 
to achieve major successes during the reporting period 
in its plant construction business. in the first half of 2013, 
Linde won a major contract from reliance industries Ltd. 
(RIL) to build six air separation plants for the production of 

gaseous oxygen at the refinery and petrochemical site of 
Jamnagar in india. the order, worth around EUR 450 m, is 
also for the supply of two synthesis gas purification units. 
RIL requires large quantities of oxygen for its proposed 
plants in Jamnagar for the gasification of petroleum coke 
and coal. in the course of 2013, the scope of this major pro-
ject was further expanded to include, for example, Linde 
providing RIL with four sulphur recovery plants and a pres-
sure swing adsorption plant to produce pure  hydrogen on 
the Jamnagar site as a result, the total value of the order 
for Linde is now over EUR 700 m.

Linde will also build six smaller air separation plants 
for the production of oxygen for shenhua ningxia coal 
industry group co. Ltd. and shenhua Logistics group co. 
Ltd. in yinchuan in north-western  china. the companies 
signed a contract with Linde to this effect worth around 
EUR 200 m in the first quarter of 2013. the oxygen is required 
to extract liquid fuels from coal (coal-to-Liquid or CTL). this 
project is currently one of the biggest CTL schemes in the 
world. the plants are expected to be completed in 2016.

almost 40 percent of the order intake in the first nine 
months of 2013 came from the asia/pacific region, while 
around a third of new orders came from north america 
and about a quarter from  europe. 

in the growing market for natural gas plants, the group 
not only won orders in north america as a result of the 
increased exploitation of shale gas reserves, but was also 
awarded the contract for a major project in  europe. the 
norwegian company gassco AS has commissioned Linde to 
build a natural gas terminal in emden in northern  germany. 
the order is worth around EUR 260 m. a contract to this 
effect was signed in the first quarter of 2013. the new 
terminal is due for completion towards the end of 2016.

the order intake in the first nine months of 2013 was 
spread relatively evenly over the various types of plant. Just 
under a third of new orders related to the air  separation 
plant product area and a quarter to hydrogen and synthesis 
gas plants, while natural gas plants and olefin plants each 
accounted for almost 20 percent of new orders.

the order backlog in the engineering division has re-
mained at a very high level. at 30 september 2013, it stood 
at EUR 5.135 bn (31 december 2012: EUR 3.700 bn).
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3 enGineeRinG Division

3rd Quarter January to september

in € million 2013 2012 2013 2012

revenue 820 511 2,068 1,740

order intake 853 663 3,661 2,095

order backlog at 30.09./31.12. – – 5,135 3,700

operating profit 77 63 225 214
operating margin 9.4 % 12.3 % 10.9 % 12.3 %

4 enGineeRinG Division – oRDeR intake by ReGion

January to september

in € million 2013 in percent 2012 in percent

asia/pacific 1,391 38.0  669 31.9

europe 870 23.8  467 22.3

north america 1,146 31.3  532 25.4

middle east 138 3.8  336 16.0

africa 85 2.3  26 1.3

south america 31 0.8  65 3.1

ENGINEERING DIvIsION 3,661 100.0 2,095 100.0

5 enGineeRinG Division – oRDeR intake by plant type

January to september

in € million 2013 in percent 2012 in percent

natural gas plants 674 18.4  511 24.4

air separation plants 1,144 31.2  618 29.5

olefin plants 687 18.8  296 14.1

Hydrogen and synthesis gas plants 928 25.3  434 20.7

other 228 6.3  236 11.3

ENGINEERING DIvIsION 3,661 100.0 2,095 100.0

6 enGineeRinG Division – oRDeR intake by ReGion

3rd Quarter

in € million 2013 in percent 2012 in percent

asia/pacific 206 24.2  261 39.3

europe 218 25.6  131 19.8

north america 281 32.9  229 34.5

middle east 95 11.1  21 3.2

africa 49 5.7  16 2.4

south america 4 0.5  5 0.8

ENGINEERING DIvIsION 853 100.0 663 100.0

7 enGineeRinG Division – oRDeR intake by plant type

3rd Quarter

in € million 2013 in percent 2012 in percent

natural gas plants 41 4.8  216 32.6

air separation plants 124 14.5  221 33.3

olefin plants 95 11.1  44 6.6

Hydrogen and synthesis gas plants 480 56.3  77 11.6

other 113 13.3  105 15.9

ENGINEERING DIvIsION 853 100.0 663 100.0
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Finance

cash flow from operating activities in the nine months 
to 30 september 2013 was EUR 2.158 bn, a significant rise 
of 35.7 percent when compared with the figure for the 
prior-year period of EUR 1.590 bn. the rate of increase in 
cash flow was higher than the rate of increase in oper-
ating profit, which rose by 11.8 percent to EUR 2.996 bn 
(2012: EUR 2.680 bn). Factors contributing to this higher 
 percentage increase included the improvement in working 
capital and the higher level of advance payments received 
from customers in the engineering division. income taxes 
paid, on the other hand, which rose by EUR 51 m (from 
EUR 359 m in the first nine months of 2012 to EUR 410 m in 
the first nine months of 2013), mainly as a result of the 
positive earnings trend, had the opposite effect on cash 
flow from operating activities.

in the first nine months of 2013, Linde spent EUR 1.557 bn 
on investments in tangible assets, intangible assets and 
financial assets (2012: EUR 1.258 bn), a continuation of its 
investment strategy geared towards the long term. pay-
ments made for investments were 23.8 percent higher than 
in the prior-year period. most of the investment was made 
in the gases division and much of that was deployed in 
the on-site product area. 

payments made for investments in consolidated com-
panies totalled EUR 139 m, a significantly lower figure 
than that for the first nine months of 2012 of EUR 2.982 bn. 
the high figure in 2012 includes the purchase prices for 
the acquisition of US homecare company Lincare and 
air  products’ continental  european homecare business. 
significant acquisitions during the reporting period were 
the purchase of the French homecare- provider calea 
 France SAS and the purchase of the remaining shares in 
the former joint venture OCAP. the sale of securities re-
sulted in proceeds on disposal in the first nine months of 
2013 of EUR 676 m (2012: EUR 853 m). the net cash out flow 
from investing activities in the nine months to 30 sep-
tember 2013 was EUR 1.069 bn, EUR 2.222 bn lower than the 
prior-year figure for net cash outflow from investing ac-
tivities of EUR 3.291 bn. 

the net cash outflow from financing activities was 
EUR 1.248 bn (2012: net cash inflow of EUR 1.814 bn). the 
main reason for the net cash inflow in 2012 was the pro-
ceeds of EUR 1.391 bn arising from the capital increase in 
July 2012. When looking at the figure for the reporting pe-
riod, the main item to be considered is dividend payments 
of EUR 550 m (2012: EUR 471 m). the cash inflows from the 
disposal of non-controlling interests of EUR 53 m related 
mainly to the sale of shares in the subsidiary Linde india 
Limited to minority shareholders, which was necessary to 
comply with changes in the rules in indian law governing 
 capital markets. 

total assets fell by EUR 1.260 bn to EUR 33.037 bn at 
30 september 2013, mainly as a result of exchange rate 
effects (31 december 2012: EUR 34.297 bn). most of the 
total assets (more than 80 percent or EUR 26.638 bn) are 
non-current assets. Within the figure for non-current assets, 

the major items are goodwill of EUR 10.570 bn (31 decem-
ber 2012: EUR 10.826 bn) and tangible assets of EUR 11.215 bn 
(31  december 2012: EUR 11.173 bn). 

goodwill fell during the reporting period by EUR 256 m. 
additions as a result of acquisitions (EUR 121 m) were set 
against exchange rate effects. tangible assets rose by 
EUR 42 m when compared with the prior-year figure. ad-
ditions as a result of acquisitions and investments of 
EUR 1.596 bn should be taken into account here. Factors 
which had the effect of reducing the overall figure for 
tangible assets in the reporting period were deprecia-
tion totalling EUR 1.059 bn and exchange rate movements.

included in current assets are securities, which fell 
by EUR 503 m to EUR 321 m mainly as a result of sales 
(31  december 2012: EUR 824 m). 

at 30 september 2013, equity was EUR 13.558 bn, EUR 100 m 
below the figure at 31 december 2012 of EUR 13.658 bn. the 
decrease in equity was mainly due to negative exchange 
rate effects of EUR 926 m (2012: EUR positive exchange 
rate effects of EUR 184 m) and the dividend payment of 
EUR 550 m (2012: EUR 471 m). the profit for the period had 
a positive impact on the equity figure. in the first nine 
months of 2013, post-tax profit was EUR 1.078 bn, compared 
with EUR 971 m in the first nine months of 2012. the equity 
ratio at 30 september 2013 of 41.0 percent was higher than 
the figure at 31 december 2012 of 39.8 percent.

provisions for pensions and similar obligations de-
creased slightly, by EUR 105 m to EUR 1.008 bn (31 decem-
ber 2012: EUR 1.113 bn), principally as a result of the change 
in actuarial assumptions. 

net financial debt comprises gross financial debt less 
short-term securities and cash and cash equivalents. at 
30 september 2013, net financial debt was EUR 8.601 bn. 
this is an increase of EUR 128 m when compared to the 
figure at 31 december 2012.

gross financial debt, on the other hand, decreased by 
EUR 572 m to EUR 10.009 bn (31 december 2012: EUR 10.581 bn). 
during the reporting period, Linde was able to repay in full 
the USD acquisition loan it had raised for the purchase of 
Lincare in July 2012. to do so, the group successfully placed 
two new bonds in the second  quarter of 2013: a ten-year 
EUR 650 m bond with a coupon of 2.00  percent and a five-
year USD 500 m bond with a coupon of 1.50  percent. both 
bonds were issued under the EUR 10 bn debt issuance pro-
gramme. moreover, in the third quarter, Linde redeemed 
a EUR 400 m subordinated bond early as a result of exer-
cising a call option. 

the dynamic indebtedness factor (net financial debt 
to operating profit for the last twelve months) improved 
from 2.3 at 31 december 2012 to 2.1 at 30 september 2013. 
the group’s gearing (the ratio of net debt to equity) rose 
to 63.4 percent (31 december 2012: 62.0 percent). 

the Linde group is financed on a long-term basis, as can 
be seen from the maturity profile of the financial debt. of 
the gross financial debt of EUR 10.009 bn (31 december 2012: 
EUR 10.581 bn), EUR 1.190 bn (31 december 2012: EUR 1.346 bn) 
is disclosed as current and EUR 8.819 bn (31 december 2012: 
EUR 9.235 bn) as non-current financial debt. 
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gross financial debt repayable within one year is matched 
by short-term securities of EUR 321 m and cash and cash 
equivalents of EUR 1.087 bn. 

in July 2013, Linde agreed a new five-year EUR 2.5 bn 
syndicated credit facility, with two options to extend the 
facility, in each case by one year. the credit line replaces 
the EUR 2.5 bn facility from 2010 which had not been drawn 
down. 

at 30 september 2013, available liquidity was therefore 
EUR 2.718 bn (31 december 2012: EUR 3.262 bn). 

employees

the number of employees in the Linde group worldwide at 
30 september 2013 was 63,185 (31 december 2012: 62,765). 
of this number, 51,394 were employed in the gases division 
and 6,902 in the engineering division. the majority of the 
4,889 staff in the other activities segment are employed 
by gist, Linde’s logistics service-provider.

8  GRoup – employees by RepoRtable seGment

30.09.2013
31.12.2012

adjusted 1

gases division 51,394 51,405

EMEA 21,538 21,636

asia/pacific 12,010 11,809

americas 17,846 17,960

engineering division 6,902 6,564

other activities 4,889 4,796

GROUP 63,185 62,765
1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised 

IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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outlook

group
economists have slightly revised down their forecast for 
general economic growth when compared with the fig-
ures they predicted at the end of the first half of 2013. 
the international forecasting institute the economist in-
telligence unit Ltd. (EIU) is now expecting global gross 
domestic product (GDP) to increase by only 2.1 percent 
over the course of 2013 (H1 report: 2.2 percent; Financial 
report 2012: 2.4 percent). this means that growth in the 
global economy in 2013 is expected to be below the 2012 
figure of 2.4 percent. 

the forecast for global industrial production (IP) has 
also been revised down. Here, the EIU is now expecting an 
increase of only 1.6 percent for the year 2013 (compared 
with the 2012 figure of 1.4 percent). at the end of the first 
half of 2013, the forecast was for growth in IP of 1.9 percent, 
while the forecast at the end of 2012 was even higher, an 
increase of 2.7 percent. 

High levels of sovereign debt in major economies con-
tinue to have the greatest impact on macroeconomic de-
velopment. the global economy could also be adversely 
affected by currency fluctuations, high unemployment in 
many industrialised countries or the ongoing uncertainty 
surrounding the political situation in some countries in 
the arab world. 

since the end of the first half of 2013, certain curren-
cies have continued to fall sharply against the euro: in 
particular, the  australian dollar and US dollar, the british 
pound and currencies in the emerging economies. this 
has had a significant adverse impact on Linde’s revenue 
and earnings trends.

against this background, Linde is now seeking to gen-
erate a group operating profit in the 2013 financial year of 
around EUR 4 bn. until now, the group’s target had been a 
figure for group operating profit of at least EUR 4 bn. Linde 
continues to expect that it will achieve a higher level 
of group revenue in the 2013 financial year than in 2012.

Linde anticipates that it will continue to benefit in the 
coming years from megatrends such as energy, the environ-
ment and health and from dynamic growth in the emerging 
economies. For the 2016 financial year, the group has set 
itself the target of achieving group operating profit of at 
least EUR 5 bn and a return on capital employed (ROCE) of 
around 14 percent (adjusted ROCE¹) or around 13 percent 
(reported ROCE). 

these medium-term targets are based on current eco-
nomic forecasts, according to which the global economy 
will continue to grow at a faster rate in the coming years 
than in the current year 2013. they are also founded on 
the assumption that there will not be any significant shifts 
in exchange rates compared with those prevailing at the 
year-end when the medium-term outlook was formulated. 
as described in the group interim management report, ex-
change rates have changed significantly during the current 
reporting period in a direction which was unfavourable to 
Linde. if exchange rates over the coming years remain at 

similar levels to those which have applied recently, this 
would reduce group operating profit by around EUR 250 m 
in 2016 and might also have an adverse impact on return 
on capital employed. 

Linde will also continue to improve its business pro-
cesses in future and remains committed to the systematic 
implementation of its holistic concept for sustainable pro-
ductivity gains (High performance organisation or HPO). 
the group will continue to apply the measures it has de-
signed to make constant improvements in efficiency and 
still plans to achieve further reductions in gross costs of 
between EUR 750 m and EUR 900 m in the years 2013 to 2016.

Outlook – Gases Division
recent economic forecasts indicate that the rate of growth 
in the global gases market in 2013 will be similar to the 
rate seen in 2012. Linde remains committed to its original 
target in the gases business of outperforming the market 
and continuing to increase productivity.

in its on-site business, Linde has a healthy project pipe-
line, which will contribute to increases in revenue and 
earnings over the remaining part of the 2013 financial year. 

the group expects its liquefied gases and cylinder 
gas product areas to perform in line with macroeconomic 
trends. 

in the Healthcare product area, Linde is expecting to 
achieve significant increases in revenue and earnings as 
a result of the acquisitions it has concluded, especially 
that of Lincare.

against this background, Linde continues to expect 
that revenue generated by the gases division in the 2013 
financial year will be higher than that achieved in 2012 
and that operating profit will increase in the current year.

Outlook – Engineering Division
a relatively stable market environment is expected in the 
international large-scale plant construction business in 
the remaining part of 2013. 

at just over EUR 5.1 bn, the order backlog in Linde’s 
engineering division at 30 september 2013 remains at a 
very high level, creating a good basis for a solid business 
performance over the next two years. the group contin-
ues to expect to generate the same level of revenue in its 
plant construction business in the 2013 financial year as 
in 2012. Linde anticipates that it will achieve an operating 
margin in the 2013 financial year of at least 10 percent. 

Linde is well-positioned in the international market for 
olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants and 
hydrogen and synthesis gas plants and will derive lasting 
benefit in particular from investment in two structural 
growth areas: energy and the environment.
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1 For the definition of ROCE, see page 42 of the Financial Report 2012.
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risk report

uncertainty about future global economic trends contin-
ues. risks relevant to the group include not only the risk 
of a drop in revenue volumes if there is another economic 
slowdown, but also the risk of the loss of new business 
and an increase in the risk of bad debts in its operating 
business due to an increase in the inability of customers 
to make payments (counterparty risk). the high level of 
volatility in the financial markets continues to make it 
difficult to arrive at an accurate assessment of the future 
net assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Linde group.

the risk situation for Linde as described on page s 

80 to 92 o f th e 2012 f i NaN cial Repo Rt  has not changed 
significantly in the nine months to 30 september 2013. the 
total amount which relates to individual risks within the 
risk fields will not adversely affect the viability of the 
Linde group as a going concern. if there is a change in 
external circumstances, risks which are currently unknown 
or deemed to be immaterial might have a negative impact 
on business operations.
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9 GRoup statement of pRofit oR loss

3rd Quarter January to september

in € million 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

revenue 4,261 4,044 12,468 11,469

cost of sales 2,801 2,591 7,939 7,275

GROSS pROFIT 1,460 1,453 4,529 4,194

marketing and selling expenses 629 612 1,885 1,692

research and development costs 21 24 69 73

administration expenses 356 344 1,061 994

other operating income 145 74 255 197

other operating expenses 55 38 140 126

share of profit or loss from associates and joint ventures (at equity) 3 2 15 9

ebIT 547 511 1,644 1,515

Financial income 14 42 54 97

Financial expenses 116 124 342 348

pROFIT beFORe TAx 445 429 1,356 1,264

taxes on income 82 100 278 293

pROFIT FOR The peRIOD 363 329 1,078 971

attributable to Linde AG shareholders 337 307 997 893

attributable to non-controlling interests 26 22 81 78

earnings per share in € – undiluted 1.82 1.67 5.38 5.09

earnings per share in € – diluted 1.81 1.66 5.35 5.05

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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10 GRoup statement of compRehensive income

3rd Quarter January to september

in € million 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

pROFIT FOR The peRIOD 363 329 1,078 971

OTheR COMpReheNSIve INCOMe (NeT OF TAx) –290 –325 –694 –272

ITeMS ThAT wILL be ReCLASSIFIeD SUbSeqUeNTLY TO pROFIT OR LOSS –261 –132 –731 142

unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale financial assets –1 – –1 – 4

unrealised gains/losses on derivative financial instruments 95 85 196 –38

currency translation differences –355 –217 – 926 184

ITeMS ThAT wILL NOT be ReCLASSIFIeD SUbSeqUeNTLY TO pROFIT OR LOSS –29 –193 37 –414

remeasurement of defined benefit plans –29 –193 37 – 441
change in effect of the limit on a net defined benefit asset  
(asset ceiling under IAS 19R.64) – – – 27

TOTAL COMpReheNSIve INCOMe 73 4 384 699

attributable to Linde AG shareholders 76 –1 353 627

attributable to non-controlling interests –3 5 31 72

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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11 GRoup statement of financial position

in € million 30.09.2013
31.12.2012

adjusted 1

assets   

goodwill 10,570 10,826

other intangible assets 3,201 3,643

tangible assets 11,215 11,173

investments in associates and joint ventures (at equity) 213 208

other financial assets 103 121

receivables from finance leases 300 381

trade receivables 9 –

other receivables and other assets 623 605

income tax receivables 4 4

deferred tax assets 400 479

NON-CURReNT ASSeTS 26,638 27,440

inventories 1,148 1,112

receivables from finance leases 51 59

trade receivables 2,782 2,653

other receivables and other assets 824 736

income tax receivables 186 182

securities 321 824

cash and cash equivalents 1,087 1,284

non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups – 7

CURReNT ASSeTS 6,399 6,857

TOTAl AssETs 33,037 34,297

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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12 GRoup statement of financial position

in € million 30.09.2013
31.12.2012

adjusted 1

equity and liabilities   

capital subscribed 475 474

capital reserve 6,708 6,698

revenue reserves 6,255 5,706

cumulative changes in equity not recognised through the statement of profit or loss – 649 33

TOTAL eqUITY ATTRIbUTAbLe TO LINDe AG ShARehOLDeRS 12,789 12,911

non-controlling interests 769 747

TOTAL eqUITY 13,558 13,658

provisions for pensions and similar obligations 1,008 1,113

other non-current provisions 463 496

deferred tax liabilities 2,066 2,207

Financial debt 8,819 9,235

Liabilities from finance leases 60 56

trade payables 2 6

other non-current liabilities 431 497

Liabilities from income taxes 76 85

NON-CURReNT LIAbILITIeS 12,925 13,695

other current provisions 1,298 1,571

Financial debt 1,190 1,346

Liabilities from finance leases 22 24

trade payables 2,822 2,806

other current liabilities 1,051 1,026

Liabilities from income taxes 171 171

CURReNT LIAbILITIeS 6,554 6,944

TOTAl EqUITy AND lIAbIlITIEs 33,037 34,297

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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13 GRoup statement of cash flows 

January to september

in € million 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

pROFIT beFORe TAx 1,356 1,264

adjustments to profit before tax to calculate cash flow from operating activities   

amortisation of intangible assets/depreciation of tangible assets 1,352 1,165

impairments on financial assets 1 –

profit/loss on disposal of non-current assets –25 –13

net interest 278 284

Finance income arising from finance leases in accordance with IFRIC 4/IAS 17 19 27

share of profit or loss from associates and joint ventures (at equity) –15 – 9

distributions/dividends received from associates and joint ventures 8 9

income taxes paid – 410 –359

changes in assets and liabilities   

change in inventories – 89 –128

change in trade receivables –244 –211

change in provisions –205 –73

change in trade payables 165 –149

change in other assets and liabilities –33 –217

CASh FLOw FROM OpeRATING ACTIvITIeS 2,158 1,590

payments for tangible and intangible assets and plants held under leases in accordance   
with IFRIC 4/IAS 17 –1,525 –1,2362

payments for investments in consolidated companies –139 –2,982

payments for investments in financial assets –32 –22

payments for investments in securities –176 –2

proceeds on disposal of securities 676 853
proceeds on disposal of tangible and intangible assets and amortisation of receivables  
from finance leases in accordance with IFRIC 4/IAS 17 111 93

proceeds on disposal of consolidated companies 15 –

proceeds on disposal of financial assets 1 5

CASh FLOw FROM INveSTING ACTIvITIeS –1,069 –3,291
1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
2 Adjusted for capitalised borrowing costs.
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14 GRoup statement of cash flows 

January to september

in € million 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

dividend payments to Linde AG shareholders and non-controlling interests – 550 – 471

capital increase – 1,391

cash inflows/outflows for sale/purchase of non-controlling interests 53 – 499

proceeds from issue of employee shares 1 50

interest received 138 151

interest paid – 448 – 4752

proceeds of loans and capital market debt 3,698 6,366

cash outflows for the repayment of loans and capital market debt – 4,125 – 4,694

change in liabilities from finance leases –15 – 5

CASh FLOw FROM FINANCING ACTIvITIeS –1,248 1,814

NeT CASh INFLOw/OUTFLOw –159 113

OpeNING bALANCe OF CASh AND CASh eqUIvALeNTS 1,284 1,061

effects of currency translation –38 10

CLOSING bALANCe OF CASh AND CASh eqUIvALeNTS 1,087 1,184

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
2 Adjusted for capitalised borrowing costs.
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15 statement of chanGes in GRoup equity

in € million

revenue reserves
cumulative changes in equity not recognised  

through the statement of profit or loss

capital subscribed capital reserve

remeasurement  
of defined  

benefit plans retained earnings

currency 
translation 
differences

available-for-sale 
financial assets

derivative 
financial 

instruments

total equity 
attributable to 

Linde AG 
shareholders

non-controlling 
interests total equity

AT 1 JAN. 2012 438 5,264  –351 6,103 275 4 –129 11,604 540 12,144

adjustment due to retrospective application of newly-adopted or revised IFRS s¹ – –  12 –186 1 – – –173 161 –12

AT 1 JAN. 2012 ADJUsTED 438 5,264  –339 5,917 276 4 –129 11,431 701 12,132

profit for the period – –  – 893 – – – 893 78 971

other comprehensive income (net of tax) – –  – 404 – 180 – 4 –38 –266 – 6 –272

TOTAl cOMPREhENsIvE INcOME – –  –404 893 180 –4 –38 627 72 699

dividend payments – –  – – 428 – – – – 428 – 43 – 471

changes as a result of share option schemes 3 62  – – – – – 65 – 65

capital increase 33 1,358  – – – – – 1,391 – 1,391

TOTAL CONTRIbUTIONS bY AND DISTRIbUTIONS TO OwNeRS OF The COMpANY 36 1,420 – –428 – – – 1,028 –43 985

addition/divesture of non-controlling interests – –  – 10 – – – 10 –3 7

acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests – –  – – 517 – – – – 517 25 – 492

ChANGeS IN OwNeRShIp INTeReSTS IN SUbSIDIARIeS – – – –507 – – – –507 22 –485

AT 30 sEPTEMbER 2012 ADJUsTED 474 6,684  –743 5,875 456 – –167 12,579 752 13,331

AT 1 JAN. 2013 474 6,698  –531 6,420 80 – –47 13,094 564 13,658

adjustment due to retrospective application of newly-adopted or revised IFRS s¹ – –  16 –199 – – – –183 183 –

AT 1 JAN. 2013 ADJUsTED 474 6,698  –515 6,221 80 – –47 12,911 747 13,658

profit for the period – –  – 997 – – – 997 81 1,078

other comprehensive income (net of tax) – –  38 – – 876 –1 195 – 644 – 50 – 694

TOTAl cOMPREhENsIvE INcOME – –  38 997 –876 –1 195 353 31 384

dividend payments – –  – – 500 – – – – 500 – 50 – 550

changes as a result of share option schemes 1 10  – – – – – 11 – 11

repurchase of own shares – –  – – – – – – –1 –1

TOTAL CONTRIbUTIONS bY AND DISTRIbUTIONS TO OwNeRS OF The COMpANY 1 10 – –500 – – – –489 –51 –540

addition/divesture of non-controlling interests – –  – 4 – – – 4 42 46

acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests – –  – 10 – – – 10 – 10

ChANGeS IN OwNeRShIp INTeReSTS IN SUbSIDIARIeS – – – 14 – – – 14 42 56

AT 30 sEPTEMbER 2013 475 6,708  –477 6,732 –796 –1 148 12,789 769 13,558
1 The following new or revised IFRS s were applied retrospectively as at 1 January 2013: IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IAS 19 (revised 2011). See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim 

report.
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15 statement of chanGes in GRoup equity

in € million

revenue reserves
cumulative changes in equity not recognised  

through the statement of profit or loss

capital subscribed capital reserve

remeasurement  
of defined  

benefit plans retained earnings

currency 
translation 
differences

available-for-sale 
financial assets

derivative 
financial 

instruments

total equity 
attributable to 

Linde AG 
shareholders

non-controlling 
interests total equity

AT 1 JAN. 2012 438 5,264  –351 6,103 275 4 –129 11,604 540 12,144

adjustment due to retrospective application of newly-adopted or revised IFRS s¹ – –  12 –186 1 – – –173 161 –12

AT 1 JAN. 2012 ADJUsTED 438 5,264  –339 5,917 276 4 –129 11,431 701 12,132

profit for the period – –  – 893 – – – 893 78 971

other comprehensive income (net of tax) – –  – 404 – 180 – 4 –38 –266 – 6 –272

TOTAl cOMPREhENsIvE INcOME – –  –404 893 180 –4 –38 627 72 699

dividend payments – –  – – 428 – – – – 428 – 43 – 471

changes as a result of share option schemes 3 62  – – – – – 65 – 65

capital increase 33 1,358  – – – – – 1,391 – 1,391

TOTAL CONTRIbUTIONS bY AND DISTRIbUTIONS TO OwNeRS OF The COMpANY 36 1,420 – –428 – – – 1,028 –43 985

addition/divesture of non-controlling interests – –  – 10 – – – 10 –3 7

acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests – –  – – 517 – – – – 517 25 – 492

ChANGeS IN OwNeRShIp INTeReSTS IN SUbSIDIARIeS – – – –507 – – – –507 22 –485

AT 30 sEPTEMbER 2012 ADJUsTED 474 6,684  –743 5,875 456 – –167 12,579 752 13,331

AT 1 JAN. 2013 474 6,698  –531 6,420 80 – –47 13,094 564 13,658

adjustment due to retrospective application of newly-adopted or revised IFRS s¹ – –  16 –199 – – – –183 183 –

AT 1 JAN. 2013 ADJUsTED 474 6,698  –515 6,221 80 – –47 12,911 747 13,658

profit for the period – –  – 997 – – – 997 81 1,078

other comprehensive income (net of tax) – –  38 – – 876 –1 195 – 644 – 50 – 694

TOTAl cOMPREhENsIvE INcOME – –  38 997 –876 –1 195 353 31 384

dividend payments – –  – – 500 – – – – 500 – 50 – 550

changes as a result of share option schemes 1 10  – – – – – 11 – 11

repurchase of own shares – –  – – – – – – –1 –1

TOTAL CONTRIbUTIONS bY AND DISTRIbUTIONS TO OwNeRS OF The COMpANY 1 10 – –500 – – – –489 –51 –540

addition/divesture of non-controlling interests – –  – 4 – – – 4 42 46

acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests – –  – 10 – – – 10 – 10

ChANGeS IN OwNeRShIp INTeReSTS IN SUbSIDIARIeS – – – 14 – – – 14 42 56

AT 30 sEPTEMbER 2013 475 6,708  –477 6,732 –796 –1 148 12,789 769 13,558
1 The following new or revised IFRS s were applied retrospectively as at 1 January 2013: IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IAS 19 (revised 2011). See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim 

report.
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16 seGment infoRmation

in € million, N ote [9]

reportable segments reportable segments

reconciliation groupgases division engineering division Other activities

January to september January to september January to september January to september January to september

2013
2012

adjusted 1  2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

revenue from third parties 10,503 9,617  1,550 1,410 415 442 – – 12,468 11,469

revenue from other segments 7 3  518 330 – – – 525 –333 – –

TOTAL ReveNUe FROM The RepORTAbLe SeGMeNTS 10,510 9,620  2,068 1,740 415 442 –525 –333 12,468 11,469

OpeRATING pROFIT 2,913 2,607  225 214 36 43 –178 –184 2,996 2,680

of which share of profit or loss from associates/joint ventures (at equity) 16 8  – – – – –1 1 15 9

amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets 1,326 1,131  26 27 24 26 –24 –19 1,352 1,165
of which amortisation of fair value adjustments identified in the course of the BOC  
purchase price allocation 155 181  5 6 10 10 – – 170 197

of which impairments 64 21  – – – – – – 64 21

ebIT (eARNINGS beFORe INTeReST AND TAx) 1,587 1,476  199 187 12 17 –154 –165 1,644 1,515
capital expenditure (excluding financial assets) 1,503 1,243  15 19 8 14 –39 –7 1,487 1,269

in € million, N ote [9]

reportable segments

gases division

emea asia/Pacific americas total gases division

January to september January to september January to september January to september

2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

revenue from third parties 4,556 4,506 2,829 2,875 3,118 2,236  10,503  9,617

revenue from other segments 13 12 14 9 72 63  7  3

TOTAL ReveNUe FROM The RepORTAbLe SeGMeNTS 4,569 4,518 2,843  2,884 3,190 2,299  10,510  9,620

OpeRATING pROFIT 1,314 1,280 747 743 852 584
 

2,913
 

2,607

of which share of profit or loss from associates/joint ventures (at equity) 7 – 9 7 – 1  16  8

amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets 485 473 365 361 476 297  1,326  1,131

of which amortisation of fair value adjustments identified in the course of the BOC purchase price allocation 38 42 85 95 32 44  155  181

of which impairments 4 21 1 – 59 – 64 21

ebIT (eARNINGS beFORe INTeReST AND TAx) 829 807 382  382 376 287  1,587  1,476

capital expenditure (excluding financial assets) 580 486 571 517 352 240 1,503  1,243

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS S. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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16 seGment infoRmation

in € million, N ote [9]

reportable segments reportable segments

reconciliation groupgases division engineering division Other activities

January to september January to september January to september January to september January to september

2013
2012

adjusted 1  2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

revenue from third parties 10,503 9,617  1,550 1,410 415 442 – – 12,468 11,469

revenue from other segments 7 3  518 330 – – – 525 –333 – –

TOTAL ReveNUe FROM The RepORTAbLe SeGMeNTS 10,510 9,620  2,068 1,740 415 442 –525 –333 12,468 11,469

OpeRATING pROFIT 2,913 2,607  225 214 36 43 –178 –184 2,996 2,680

of which share of profit or loss from associates/joint ventures (at equity) 16 8  – – – – –1 1 15 9

amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets 1,326 1,131  26 27 24 26 –24 –19 1,352 1,165
of which amortisation of fair value adjustments identified in the course of the BOC  
purchase price allocation 155 181  5 6 10 10 – – 170 197

of which impairments 64 21  – – – – – – 64 21

ebIT (eARNINGS beFORe INTeReST AND TAx) 1,587 1,476  199 187 12 17 –154 –165 1,644 1,515
capital expenditure (excluding financial assets) 1,503 1,243  15 19 8 14 –39 –7 1,487 1,269

in € million, N ote [9]

reportable segments

gases division

emea asia/Pacific americas total gases division

January to september January to september January to september January to september

2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

revenue from third parties 4,556 4,506 2,829 2,875 3,118 2,236  10,503  9,617

revenue from other segments 13 12 14 9 72 63  7  3

TOTAL ReveNUe FROM The RepORTAbLe SeGMeNTS 4,569 4,518 2,843  2,884 3,190 2,299  10,510  9,620

OpeRATING pROFIT 1,314 1,280 747 743 852 584
 

2,913
 

2,607

of which share of profit or loss from associates/joint ventures (at equity) 7 – 9 7 – 1  16  8

amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets 485 473 365 361 476 297  1,326  1,131

of which amortisation of fair value adjustments identified in the course of the BOC purchase price allocation 38 42 85 95 32 44  155  181

of which impairments 4 21 1 – 59 – 64 21

ebIT (eARNINGS beFORe INTeReST AND TAx) 829 807 382  382 376 287  1,587  1,476

capital expenditure (excluding financial assets) 580 486 571 517 352 240 1,503  1,243

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS S. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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additionaL 
 comments 

[1] general accounting policies

the condensed group interim financial statements of 
Linde AG for the nine months ended 30 september 2013 
have been drawn up in accordance with international 
 Financial reporting standards (IFRS) issued by the inter-
national accounting standards board (IASB) applicable to 
interim financial reporting, as adopted by the  european 
union pursuant to EU regulation 1606/2002 of the  european 
parliament and the council concerning the use of inter-
national accounting standards.

the reporting currency is the euro. all amounts are 
shown in millions of euro (EUR m), unless stated otherwise.

a review of the condensed group interim financial 
statements has been performed by KPMG AG Wirtschafts-
prüfungsgesellschaft.

the accounting policies used in the condensed group 
interim financial statements are the same as those used 
to prepare the group financial statements for the year 
ended 31 december 2012. in addition, dividend payments 
which were made by operating companies held by Linde 
as an investment and reported at cost or at fair value were 
included in other operating income, as long as Linde held 
more than 10 percent of the voting rights in the company 
and the company’s business was clearly related to Linde’s 
core operating business. core businesses are defined as 
activities which make a significant contribution to the rev-
enue of a division. a figure of around 20 percent is used 
as a guideline for materiality. the prior-year figures have 
not been adjusted as Linde held no investments of this 
type in 2012 which met the above criteria.

in addition, IAS 34 interim Financial reporting has been 
applied. since 1 January 2013, the following standards have 
become effective under the rules of the IASB:

 IFRS 10 consolidated Financial statements
 IFRS 11 Joint arrangements
 IFRS 12 disclosures of interests in other entities
 IFRS 13 Fair value measurement
 IAS 19 employee benefits (revised 2011)
 IAS 28 investments in associates and Joint ventures
 consolidated Financial statements, Joint arrangements 

and disclosure of interests in other entities: transition 
guidance (amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12)

 amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27: investment 
entities

 amendments to IAS 1 presentation of items of other 
comprehensive income

 amendments to IAS 12 deferred tax: recovery of un-
derlying assets

 amendments to IAS 32 offsetting Financial assets and 
Financial Liabilities

 amendment to IFRS 7FinancialInstruments:Disclosures –
offsetting Financial assets and Financial Liabilities

 improvements to IFRS s 2009 – 2011

IFRS 10, 11 and 12
IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 will become effective in the 
 european union from the 2014 financial year. However, 
early adoption is permitted. the Linde group has early 
adopted IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 from 1 January 2013 in 
accordance with the rules on application set out by the 
IASB. the new standards are to be applied retrospectively.

in IFRS 10, the term “control” is redefined. if one entity 
controls another entity, the parent company shall include 
the subsidiary in full in its consolidated financial state-
ments. under the new definition, control is established if 
the potential parent entity has power over the potential 
subsidiary (investee) as a result of voting rights or other 
rights and actual circumstances, is exposed or has rights 
to positive or negative variable returns from its involve-
ment with the investee, and above all has the ability to 
use its power over the investee to affect significantly the 
amount of its returns. 

IFRS 11 sets out new rules for accounting for joint ar-
rangements. under these new rules, a distinction is made 
between joint operations and joint ventures. a joint op-
eration is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that 
have joint control of the arrangement (the joint operators) 
have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities 
relating to the arrangement. the rights to the assets and 
the obligations for the liabilities are recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements. in a joint venture, on 
the other hand, the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement (the joint venturers) have a right to the net 
assets of the arrangement. this right is accounted for in 
the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. the option of proportionate consolidation in the 
consolidated financial statements, hitherto permitted by 
IAS 31, is no longer available.

IFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for inter-
ests in other entities. this standard requires a much wider 
range of disclosures than previously required by the rules 
set out in IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31.

as a result of applying IFRS 10, the Linde group has 
 adjusted its accounting policies to reflect the revised defi-
nition of “control”. 

eight companies in mexico and  china, the principal 
object of which is the construction and operation of gas 
production plants and which have until now been included 
as joint ventures, have been fully consolidated for the 
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first time as a result of the advantage held by Linde in 
terms of know-how. in these cases, the key issue is that 
the co-shareholders are also often the main customers 
for the gases produced. given its advantage in terms of 
know-how, the Linde group has assumed responsibility 
for the operation of the companies’ plants. these com-
panies are therefore dependent on Linde technology. 
this is reflected in the licensing agreements in force and 
the integration of production into the processes of the 
Linde group and/or the interrelationships between the 
various decision-makers. the operation of the plants is 
the principal driver of variable returns from the compa-
nies and therefore Linde exercises control (as defined by 
IFRS 10) over these companies. 

in addition, two other companies in the united states 
and in india, which have until now been included as joint 
ventures, have been fully consolidated for the first time, 
because Linde exerts increased management author-
ity in those companies. Here, Linde is able to exercise, 
on the basis of individual contracts, the most extensive 
 decision-making powers over major portions of the operat-
ing activities of the entities. on this basis, the Linde group 
has the opportunity to determine those activities of the 
entities which significantly affect the variable returns of 
the companies and therefore to exercise control (as de-
fined by IFRS 10) over the companies.

as a result of the application of IFRS 11, the Linde group 
has revised its accounting policies in respect of the obliga-
tion to include certain joint arrangements on a  line-by-line 
basis. Linde accounts on a line-by-line basis in accordance 
with the rules set out in IFRS 11 for four joint arrangements 
in the united arab emirates and in  china where the sole 
object is to supply one or several shareholders. in the ab-
sence of any special rights attaching to individual assets 
and liabilities, the assets and liabilities are accounted for 
on the basis of the share of equity held by the Linde group.

IFRS 13
IFRS 13 sets out in a single IFRS a unified framework for 
measuring fair value in financial statements prepared in 
 accordance with international Financial reporting stand-
ards. it will apply in future to all other standards that re-
quire or permit fair value measurement. exemptions to 
IFRS 13 are allowed only in the case of IAS 17 and IFRS 2, 
with some rules in these two standards continuing to apply.

Fair value is defined according to IFRS 13 as the exit 
price: i.e. the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability. a three-level hierarchy for 
fair value measurements is being introduced, a system 
which is familiar from the measurement at fair value of 
financial assets. the three levels identified in the hierar-
chy are based on the extent to which observable market 
prices are available in order to determine fair value. the 
fair values determined under the new rules may differ 
from those determined under the old rules.

IFRS 13 becomes effective from the 2013 financial year. 
this standard is applied prospectively. the Linde group has 

concluded bilateral credit support annexes (CSA s) with most 
of the banks with which financial instruments recognised 
at fair value are traded, thus minimising the  default risk 
arising from these instruments. the application of IFRS 13 
will not therefore have a significant impact on the consol-
idated financial statements of the Linde group.

IAS 19
the main changes in IAS 19 (revised 2011) relate to the ab-
olition of recognition and measurement options in respect 
of defined benefit pension plans. the changes here which 
are relevant for the Linde group are the abolition of the 
expected return on plan assets and the introduction of a 
rate of return for the plan assets which is the same as the 
discount rate applied to the corresponding defined bene-
fit obligation. this leads to a net measurement of the net 
obligation or net asset and to a net interest expense in 
respect of defined benefit plans. other changes in IAS 19 
(revised 2011) which are relevant to the Linde group are 
the recognition in profit or loss of unvested past service 
cost when it arises and the requirement to make additional 
disclosures in the notes to the group financial statements. 

IAS 19 (revised 2011) is effective from the 2013 financial 
year. the changes are applied retrospectively and have 
led to a slight decrease in the interest income on plan 
assets recognised in the financial result. the impact of 
the revisions to the standard on the current accounting 
period is immaterial in group terms.

IAS 1
the amendments to IAS 1 concern items of other compre-
hensive income which will be reclassified subsequently if 
certain conditions apply, which should be disclosed sep-
arately from those items which will never be reclassified. 
the presentation in the statement of other comprehensive 
income has been adjusted accordingly.

the retrospective application of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 
and IAS 19 (revised 2011) resulted in the following adjust-
ments being made to the figures for the prior-year  periods 
 disclosed:
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17 GRoup statement of pRofit oR loss 

3rd Quarter 2012 January to september 2012

in € million as reported adjustment adjusted as reported adjustment adjusted

revenue 3,889 155 4,044 11,063 406 11,469

cost of sales 2,488 103 2,591 7,009 266 7,275

GROSS pROFIT 1,401 52 1,453 4,054 140 4,194

marketing and selling expenses 607 5 612 1,678 14 1,692

research and development costs 23 1 24 72 1 73

administration expenses 339 5 344 980 14 994

other operating income 68 6 74 182 15 197

other operating expenses 31 7 38 107 19 126
share of profit or loss from associates 
and joint ventures (at equity) 25 –23 2 68 – 59 9

Financial income 95 – 53 42 254 –157 97

Financial expenses 172 – 48 124 494 –146 348

pROFIT beFORe TAx 417 12 429 1,227 37 1,264

taxes on income 90 10 100 269 24 293

pROFIT FOR The peRIOD 327 2 329 958 13 971
attributable to Linde AG  
shareholders 313 – 6 307 904 –11 893
attributable to non-controlling 
interests 14 8 22 54 24 78

earnings per share in € – undiluted 1.70 – 0.03 1.67 5.15 – 0.06 5.09

earnings per share in € – diluted 1.69 – 0.03 1.66 5.11 – 0.06 5.05
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18 GRoup statement of compRehensive income

3rd Quarter 2012 January to september 2012

in € million as reported adjustment adjusted as reported adjustment adjusted

pROFIT FOR The peRIOD 327 2 329 958 13 971
OTheR COMpReheNSIve INCOMe  
(NeT OF TAx) –326 1 –325 –275 3 –272
ITeMS ThAT wILL be ReCLASSIFIeD 
SUbSeqUeNTLY TO pROFIT OR LOSS –132 – –132 143 –1 142

unrealised gains/losses on  
available-for-sale financial assets – – – – 4 – – 4
unrealised gains/losses on  
derivative financial instruments 85 – 85 –38 – –38

currency translation differences –217 – –217 185 –1 184
ITeMS ThAT wILL NOT be ReCLASSIFIeD 
SUbSeqUeNTLY TO pROFIT OR LOSS –194 1 –193 –418 4 –414

remeasurement of defined  
benefit plans –194 1 –193 – 445 4 – 441
change in effect of the limit on  
a net defined benefit asset  
(asset ceiling under IAS 19R.64) – – – 27 – 27

TOTAl cOMPREhENsIvE INcOME 1 3 4 683 16 699
attributable to Linde AG  
shareholders 3 – 4 –1 636 – 9 627
attributable to non-controlling 
interests –2 7 5 47 25 72
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19 GRoup statement of financial position

in € million 
31.12.2012  

as reported
31.12.2012  

adjustment
31.12.2012 

adjusted

ASSeTS    

goodwill 10,620 206 10,826

other intangible assets 3,580 63 3,643

tangible assets 10,188 985 11,173

investments in associates and joint ventures (at equity) 816 – 608 208

other financial assets 282 –161 121

receivables from finance leases 244 137 381

other receivables and other assets 592 13 605

income tax receivables 4 – 4

deferred tax assets 469 10 479

NON-CURReNT ASSeTS 26,795 645 27,440

inventories 1,098 14 1,112

receivables from finance leases 47 12 59

trade receivables 2,599 54 2,653

other receivables and other assets 709 27 736

income tax receivables 181 1 182

securities 823 1 824

cash and cash equivalents 1,218 66 1,284

non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups 7 – 7

CURReNT ASSeTS 6,682 175 6,857

TOTAl AssETs 33,477 820 34,297
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20 GRoup statement of financial position

in € million 
31.12.2012  

as reported
31.12.2012  

adjustment
31.12.2012 

adjusted

eqUITY AND LIAbILITIeS    

capital subscribed 474 – 474

capital reserve 6,698 – 6,698

revenue reserves 5,889 –183 5,706

cumulative changes in equity not recognised through the statement of profit or loss 33 – 33

TOTAL eqUITY ATTRIbUTAbLe TO LINDe AG ShARehOLDeRS 13,094 –183 12,911

non-controlling interests 564 183 747

TOTAL eqUITY 13,658 – 13,658

provisions for pensions and similar obligations 1,105 8 1,113

other non-current provisions 471 25 496

deferred tax liabilities 2,186 21 2,207

Financial debt 8,862 373 9,235

Liabilities from finance leases 56 – 56

trade payables 6 – 6

other non-current liabilities 237 260 497

Liabilities from income taxes 85 – 85

NON-CURReNT LIAbILITIeS 13,008 687 13,695

other current provisions 1,565 6 1,571

Financial debt 1,262 84 1,346

Liabilities from finance leases 24 – 24

trade payables 2,790 16 2,806

other current liabilities 1,003 23 1,026

Liabilities from income taxes 167 4 171

CURReNT LIAbILITIeS 6,811 133 6,944

TOTAl EqUITy AND lIAbIlITIEs 33,477 820 34,297
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21 GRoup statement of cash flows 

January to september 2012

in € million as reported adjustment adjusted

cash flow from operating activities 1,506 84 1,590

cash flow from investing activities –3,196 – 95 –3,291

cash flow from financing activities 1,805 9 1,814

NeT ChANGe IN CASh AND CASh eqUIvALeNTS 115 –2 113

OpeNING bALANCe OF CASh AND CASh eqUIvALeNTS 1,000 61 1,061

effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents 10 – 10

CLOSING bALANCe OF CASh AND CASh eqUIvALeNTS 1,125 59 1,184

the following new or revised standards and interpretations 
have been issued by the IASB and the IFRS interpretations 
committee. these have not been applied in the condensed 
group interim financial statements for the nine months 
ended 30 september 2013, as they are either not yet man-
datory or have not yet been adopted by the  european 
commission:

 IFRS 9 Financial instruments
 amendments to IAS 36: recoverable amount disclosures 

for non-Financial assets
 amendments to IAS 39: novation of derivatives and 

continuation of Hedge accounting
 IFRIC interpretation IFRS 21 Levies 

IFRS 9
IFRS 9 Financial instruments has not been applied in the 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements for 
the period ended 30 september 2013. according to the 
rules relating to the application of standards set out by the 
IASB, IFRS 9 will become effective from the 2015 financial 
year. the standard has, however, not yet been adopted 
by the  european union.

the rules for the recognition and measurement of fi-
nancial instruments set out in IAS 39 will be replaced by 
those set out in IFRS 9. in future, financial assets will be 
divided into only two classifications: those measured at 
amortised cost and those measured at fair value. the 
group of assets measured at amortised cost will com-
prise those financial assets for which the contractual 
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the princi-
pal outstanding and in respect of which the objective of 
the entity’s business model is to hold the financial asset 
to collect the contractual cash flows. all other financial 
assets are included in a group which is measured at fair 
value. IFRS 9 contains an option, as before, to designate 
a financial asset in the first category as measured at fair 
value through profit or loss if certain conditions apply 
(fair value option).

For financial assets measured at fair value, gains and 
losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss, 
except in the case of those equity instruments for which 

the entity has elected to report gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income. However, dividend income relat-
ing to these financial assets is recognised in profit or loss.

the rules which apply to financial liabilities are mostly 
the same as those set out in IAS 39. the most significant 
difference concerns the recognition of gains and losses 
on financial liabilities designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss. in future, such gains and losses will be split 
into the amount of the change in fair value of the liabil-
ity that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the 
liability, which shall be presented in other comprehen-
sive income, and the remaining amount of change in the 
fair value of the liability, which shall be presented in the 
statement of profit or loss.

towards the end of 2012, the IASB published an exposure 
draft entitled “classification and measurement: Limited 
amendments to IFRS 9”, which proposes the introduction 
of a third classification of financial assets. according to 
the exposure draft, this third group should comprise fi-
nancial instruments which are recognised at fair value but 
in respect of which the gains and losses are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. the comment period ended 
in march 2013. the IASB is still in the process of evaluat-
ing the comments it has received on this exposure draft.

IFRS 9 may result in changes in the classification and 
measurement of financial assets in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of the Linde group.

the remaining standards have no significant impact on 
the net assets, financial position and results of operations 
of the Linde group.

[2] changes in group structure

the condensed group interim financial statements comprise 
Linde AG and all the companies over which Linde AG may 
exercise control as defined by IFRS 10 or joint control to-
gether with other parties as defined by IFRS 11. companies 
over which Linde AG may exercise joint control are either 
included in the consolidated interim financial statements 
on the basis of the share of equity held by the Linde group 
(line-by-line method) or using the equity method, depend-
ing on the category to which they belong. 
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associated companies over which Linde AG can exercise 
significant influence as defined by IAS 28 are also accounted 
for using the equity method. 

non-consolidated subsidiaries, when taken together, 
are insignificant in group terms, as regards total assets, 
revenue and profit or loss for the year. as a result, they 

are immaterial to the net assets, results of operations and 
financial position of the group. they are therefore not in-
cluded in the interim consolidated financial statements.

the types of companies included in the condensed 
group interim financial statements of the Linde group and 
changes in the structure of the group are disclosed below:

22 chanGes in the base of consoliDation

as at
31.12.2012

adjusted 1 additions disposals
as at

30.09.2013

CONSOLIDATeD SUbSIDIARIeS 542  24 19 547

of which within germany 20  – – 20

of which outside germany 522  24 19 527

COMpANIeS ACCOUNTeD FOR USING The LINe-bY-LINe MeThOD 4
 

1 – 5

of which within germany –  – – –

of which outside germany 4  1 – 5

COMpANIeS ACCOUNTeD FOR USING The eqUITY MeThOD 39  1 6 34

of which within germany –  – – –

of which outside germany 39  1 6 34

NON-CONSOLIDATeD SUbSIDIARIeS 62  6 4 64

of which within germany 2  – – 2

of which outside germany 60  6 4 62

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS S. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.

during the reporting period, some shares in the subsidiary 
Linde india Limited were sold to minority shareholders, 
which was necessary to comply with changes in the rules 
in indian law governing capital markets. Linde thereby 
reduced its shareholding in the company from 89 percent 

to 75 percent. the difference of EUR 10 m between the 
 carrying amount of the minority interests and the sale 
price was offset in revenue reserves. most of the other 
disposals were mergers. the principal additions during 
the reporting period are described in N ote [3] below.

[3] acquisitions

an acquisition is deemed to be significant if its total assets 
after the purchase price allocation (inclusive of goodwill) 
exceed EUR 50 m. the following significant acquisitions 
took place during the reporting period:

ocap
on the acquisition date (7 march 2013), the Linde group 
increased its holding in the companies OCAP CO2 v.o.f., B.V. 
NPM, bio Facility B.V., bio supply C.V. and bio supply B.V. (re-
ferred to collectively as OCAP) to 100 percent of the shares 
by buying out its joint venture partner. on 1 march 2013, 
these companies were fully included for the first time in 
the consolidated financial statements of the Linde group 
with economic effect from the date of acquisition.

the purchase price for the shares acquired was EUR 6 m, 
which was settled in cash. the impact on earnings of the 
remeasurement of the original shareholdings in the com-
panies at fair value was EUR 6 m. this has been included in 
the statement of profit or loss under the heading “share of 
profitorlossfromassociatesandjointventures(at equity)”.

as a result of the acquisition, the Linde group obtains full 
operational control in respect of servicing and supplying 
OCAP’s CO2 customers in Holland.

the goodwill remaining after the purchase price alloca-
tion of EUR 1 m comprises mainly going concern  synergies 
arising from the business acquired. the goodwill is not 
tax-deductible. 

the receivables acquired have a fair value of EUR 3 m 
and are all trade receivables. the fair value is virtually the 
same as the gross value of the receivables.

Calea  France SAS
on 8 January 2013, the Linde group acquired 100 percent 
of the shares in calea  France SAS. From that date, the 
business was included in full in the consolidated finan-
cial statements of the Linde group. the business acquired 
generated revenue in the 2012 financial year of around 
EUR 28 m with about 190 employees. the aim of the ac-
quisition was to continue the expansion of the group’s 
homecare business in  europe. 

after adjusting for certain cash and debt items, the pur-
chase price was EUR 60 m, of which EUR 58 m was paid in 
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cash. in addition, there are current commitments for pur-
chase price payments resulting from the netting of certain 
cash and debt items. these obligations were  recognised 
at a fair value of EUR 2 m at the acquisition date and this 
amount was taken into account for the purpose of deriving 
the acquisition cost. at 30 september 2013, these obliga-
tions had been settled in full.

the goodwill remaining after the purchase price allo-
cation of EUR 46 m comprises mainly expected synergies 
with the existing homecare business in  europe and going 
concern synergies arising from the business acquired. the 
goodwill is not tax-deductible.

the receivables acquired have a fair value of EUR 6 m 
and are all trade receivables. the gross value of the re-
ceivables is EUR 8 m. the difference between the gross 
value of the receivables and their fair value is a provi-
sion for bad debts.

Other acquisitions
in the first nine months of 2013,TheLindeGroupmade fur
ther acquisitions to expand its industrial gases business 

and in the Healthcare product area in the EMEA,  asia / pacific 
and americas reportable segments. the total purchase 
price for these acquisitions (each of which in individual 
terms was immaterial to the net assets of the group) was 
EUR 93 m, of which EUR 86 m was settled in cash. the total 
purchase price includes contingent purchase price adjust-
ments and deferred purchase price payments. Liabilities 
arising from contingent purchase price payments amounted 
to EUR 2 m. these amounts are payable within three years 
and are dependent on a positive performance in the busi-
ness acquired.

in the course of other corporate acquisitions, Linde has 
acquired non-current assets such as customer relationships, 
cylinders, tanks and vehicles as well as inventories and 
other current assets. total goodwill arising was EUR 74 m. 
part of the goodwill (EUR 59 m) is tax-deductible. receiv-
ables acquired, which are all trade receivables, have a 
fair value of EUR 5 m. the gross value of the receivables 
is EUR 7 m. the difference between the gross value of the 
receivables and their fair value has been recognised as 
an impairment loss.

23 impact of acquisitions on net assets of the linDe GRoup

Opening balance at acquisition date Fair value

in € million OCAP calea Other

non-current assets 121 21 19

inventories – 1 1

other current assets 4 8 5

cash and cash equivalents 14 4 –

equity (attributable to Linde AG) 9 14 19

non-controlling interests – – –

Liabilities 130 20 6

the impact of the transactions on the results of operations 
of the Linde group was as follows:

24 impact of acquisitions on Revenue of the linDe GRoup

in € million
revenue since 

acquisition date
revenue from 1 January to

30 september 2013 1

OCAP 14 18

calea 21 21

other 19 43

1 In determining these amounts, the same fair value adjustments as at the acquisition date were assumed. 

25 impact of acquisitions on pRofit foR the peRioD of the linDe GRoup

in € million
Profit for the period since 

acquisition date

Profit for the period from 
 1 January to

30 september 2013 1

calea 1 1

OCAP 2 2

other 5 7

1 In determining these amounts, the same fair value adjustments as at the acquisition date were assumed. 
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[4] Foreign currency translation

the financial statements of companies outside the 
 european monetary union are translated in accordance 
with the functional currency concept. For all companies, 
items in the balance sheet are translated using the spot 
rate and items in the statement of profit or loss using 
the average rate. the principal exchange rates used are 
as follows:

26 pRincipal exchanGe Rates

mid-rate on balance sheet date
average rate  

January to september

exchange rate € 1 = isO code 30.09.2013 31.12.2012 2013 2012

argentina ARS 7.80900 6.48740 6.95704 5.71782

australia AUD 1.44879 1.26957 1.34673 1.23925

brazil BRL 3.04212 2.70330 2.79275 2.44618

canada CAD 1.39043 1.30936 1.34804 1.28753

china CNY 8.24875 8.22182 8.12207 8.12695

czech republic CZK 25.69748 25.08853 25.73890 25.13992

Hungary HUF 298.90073 291.37212 296.72098 291.75112

malaysia MYR 4.40155 4.03549 4.12475 3.97543

norway NOK 8.09251 7.34583 7.66440 7.52303

poland PLN 4.22495 4.08320 4.20072 4.21221
south africa ZAR 13.68281 11.16087 12.49309 10.30555

south Korea KRW 1,448.73566 1,403.63253 1,456.46627 1,461.56614

sweden SEK 8.67462 8.57786 8.58109 8.74037

switzerland CHF 1.22219 1.20834 1.23124 1.20472

turkey TRY 2.75390 2.35386 2.45868 2.31366

UK GBP 0.83484 0.81194 0.85196 0.81407

USA USD 1.34810 1.31965 1.31698 1.28414

[5] non-current assets

in the first quarter of 2013, land and buildings in the 
EMEA reportable segment disclosed at 31 december 2012 
in non-current assets held for sale were reclassified in 
tangible assets, as the contract of sale was cancelled.

impairment tests for tangible assets are based on the 
recoverable amount of the assets tested, whereby gen-
erally the value in use is applied. during the reporting 
period, impairment losses of EUR 64 m were recognised 
in respect of tangible assets (2012: EUR 21 m). these re-
lated mainly to technical equipment and machinery and 
were allocated to the following reportable segments: 
EUR 4 m (2012: EUR 21 m) to EMEA, EUR 1 m (2012: EUR 0 m) to 
 asia / pacific and EUR 59 m (2012: EUR 0 m) to the americas. 

the criterion for the performance of the impairment test 
in the americas reportable segment was a reassessment 
of local market conditions over the remaining useful life of 
the cash-generating units concerned. the cash-generating 
units comprise air separation plants and the distribution 
network to filling stations and end customers. the pre-tax 
discount factor applied was 11.8 percent.

there were no reversals of impairment losses in the nine 
months to 30 september 2013, nor in the prior-year period. 

the allocation of the goodwill arising from the  Lincare 
transaction concluded in the 2012 financial year to cash-gen-
erating units for the purpose of the impairment test was 
completed within the twelve-month period. the allocation 
was based on the expected synergies in the gases business 
in the following regional business units: north america, 
continental & northern  europe and africa & UK. the purchase 
price allocation and the allocation of the goodwill were 
thereby completed in the third quarter of 2013.
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[6] pension obligations

the actuarial valuation of the pension obligations is based 
on the projected unit credit method set out in IAS 19 em-
ployee benefits (revised 2011). this method takes into 
account not only vested future benefits and known pen-
sions at the balance sheet date, but also expected future 
increases in salaries and pensions. the calculation of the 
provision is determined using actuarial reports. actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised immediately in equity.

in the interim reports, a competent estimate of the 
pension obligation is made, based on trends in actuarial 
assumptions and taking into account any exceptional ef-
fects in the current quarter.

at 30 september 2013, there were changes in the as-
sumptions on which the pension obligations were based 
and in the measurement at fair value of the plan assets, 
which led to an increase in equity of EUR 37 m (after deferred 
tax) when compared with the figure at 31  december 2012.

[7] net financial debt

27 net financial Debt

in € million

current non-current total

30.09.2013
31.12.2012

adjusted 1 30.09.2013
31.12.2012

adjusted 1 30.09.2013
31.12.2012

adjusted 1

Financial debt 1,190 1,346 8,819 9,235 10,009 10,581

Less: securities 321 824 – – 321 824
Less: cash and cash  
equivalents 1,087 1,284 – – 1,087 1,284

NET fINANcIAl DEbT –218 –762 8,819 9,235 8,601 8,473

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.

of the financial debt at 30 september 2013, EUR 2.993 bn 
is in a fair value hedging relationship (31 december 2012: 
EUR 3.274 bn). if there had been no adjustment to the 
carrying amount as a result of fair value hedging rela-
tionships which had been agreed and were outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period, the financial debt of 
EUR 10.009 bn (31 december 2012: EUR 10.581 bn) would 
have been EUR 101 m (31 december 2012: EUR 197 m) lower.

the Linde group concludes credit support annexes 
(CSA s) with banks to minimise counterparty risk. under 
these agreements, the positive and negative fair values 
of derivatives held by Linde AG and Linde Finance B.V. are 
collateralised with cash on a regular basis. these trans-
actions are governed by the rules set out in the master 
agreement for financial derivative transactions, whereby 
related rights and obligations to exchange financial col-
lateral do not qualify for offsetting in the balance sheet. 
an amount of EUR 171 m (31 december 2012: EUR 121 m) 
in respect of these agreements has been disclosed in 
bank loans and overdrafts as part of financial debt and 
an amount of EUR 1 m (31 december 2012: EUR 24 m) has 
been disclosed in cash equivalents.

a
d

d
it

iO
n

a
L 

 cO
m

m
en

ts

L I N D E  I N t E r I m  r E P O r t  J A N U A r Y  t O  S E P t E m b E r  2 0 13



33

28  financial assets/liabilities subject to offsettinG oR enfoRceable masteR aGReements  
foR financial DeRivative tRansactions

in € million

gross/net 
amounts of 

financial assets/ 
liabilities 

presented in the 
statement of 

financial position

Financial 
instruments that 

qualify for 
netting

net amount 
before 

collateral

cash 
collateral
 received1

cash 
collateral
 pledged1 net amount

30.09.2013
derivatives with positive  
fair values 407 –160 247 –139 – 108
derivatives with negative  
fair values –198 160 –38 –32 1 – 69

TOTAl 209 – 209 –171 1 39

31.12.2012
derivatives with positive  
fair values 301 –130 171 –109 5 67
derivatives with negative  
fair values –195 130 – 65 –12 19 – 58

TOTAl 106 – 106 –121 24 9

1 The terms governing CSA s may result in the net fair value position per counterparty being over-secured. 

For individual categories of financial assets and  financial 
liabilities in the Linde group, the carrying amount of the 
item is generally a reasonable approximation of the fair 
value of the item. this does not apply to receivables from fi-
nance leases or to financial debt. in the case of  receivables 
from finance leases, the fair value is EUR 309 m, while the 
carrying amount is EUR 351 m. the fair value of the financial 
debt is EUR 10.518 bn, compared with its  carrying amount 
of EUR 10.009 bn. the carrying amounts of the derivatives 
are shown in the table above and correspond in each 
case to the fair value of the derivative. the fair value of 
financial instruments is generally determined  using quoted 
market prices. if no quoted market prices are available, 
the financial instruments are measured using valuation 
methods customary in the market, based on market pa-
rameters specific to that instrument. at the balance sheet 
date, the figure for investments and securities included 
assets of EUR 309 m in respect of which the value had 
been determined by quoted prices in active markets for 
identical financial instruments (Level 1). included in the 
investments and securities category are financial assets 
(available-for-sale financial assets) of EUR 48 m which are 
reported at fair value.

For derivative financial instruments, the fair value is 
determined as follows. options are measured by external 
partners using black-scholes option pricing models. Fu-
tures are measured with recourse to the quoted market 
price in the relevant market. included in derivatives at the 
balance sheet date were assets of EUR 407 m and liabilities 
of EUR 198 m in respect of which the values were deter-
mined by using valuation techniques where the inputs are 
derived principally from observable market data (Level 2).

all other derivative financial instruments are meas-
ured by discounting future cash flows using the present 
value method. the starting parameters for these models 
should, as far as possible, be the relevant observable 
market prices and interest rates at the balance sheet date, 

obtained from recognised external sources. at the balance 
sheet date, no assets or liabilities had been recognised 
for which the values had been determined by valuation 
techniques with inputs not derived principally from ob-
servable market data (Level 3).

during the reporting period, there were no transfers 
between Levels 1, 2 and 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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[8] earnings per share

29 eaRninGs peR shaRe

January to september

in € million 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

profit for the period attributable to Linde AG shareholders 997 893

shares in thousands   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 185,359 175,418

dilution as a result of share option schemes 831 1,400

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – diluted 186,190 176,818

EARNINGs PER shARE IN € – UNDIlUTED 5.38 5.09

EARNINGs PER shARE IN € – DIlUTED 5.35 5.05

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.

included in the figure for diluted earnings per share is the 
issue of shares relating to employee share option schemes, 
to the extent that these have not already been exercised. 

options exercised are also included in the calculation of the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding (diluted), 
on a weighted basis until the date they are exercised.

[9] segment reporting

the same principles apply to segment reporting in the 
interim report as those described in the group financial 
statements for the year ended 31 december 2012. no 
changes were made to the segment structure during the 
reporting period.

to arrive at the figure for the gases division as a whole 
from the figures for the reportable segments within the 

gases division, consolidation adjustments of EUR 92 m 
(2012: EUR 81 m) were deducted from revenue. therefore, it 
is not possible to arrive at the figure for the gases  division 
as a whole by merely adding together the reportable seg-
ments in the gases division.

the reconciliation of segment revenue to group reve-
nue and of the operating profit of the reportable segments 
to group profit before tax is shown in the table below:

30  Reconciliation of seGment Revenue anD of the seGment Result

January to september

in € million 2013
2012

adjusted 1 

revenue   

total revenue from the reportable segments 12,993 11,802

consolidation – 525 –333

GROUP REvENUE 12,468 11,469

Operating profit   

operating profit from the reportable segments 3,174 2,864

operating profit from corporate activities –161 –151

amortisation and depreciation 1,352 1,165

of which fair value adjustments identified in the course of the BOC purchase price allocation 170 197

of which impairments 64 21

Financial income 54 97

Financial expenses 342 348

consolidation –17 –33

PROfIT bEfORE TAx 1,356 1,264

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS S. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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[10] related party transactions

Linde AG is related in the course of its normal business 
activities to non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates. these companies are disclosed in the list 
of shareholdings on pA G E S   19 0   tO  207  O F  t h E  2012 

 f i NaN cial Repo Rt. it should be noted that, as a result of 
the retrospective application of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, some 
companies which were measured at 31 december 2012 
 using the equity method have been fully consolidated 
since 1 January 2013 or included in the consolidated interim 
financial statements of the Linde group on the basis of 
the share of equity in the company held by the group. 

revenue from related companies and services pro-
vided by related companies were immaterial during the 
reporting period. receivables from and liabilities to related 
companies as a result of related party transactions are 
disclosed in the table below. the receivables are mainly 
financial receivables. 

31 Receivables fRom anD liabilities to RelateD paRties 

in € million

30.09.2013 31.12.2012 adjusted 1

non- 
consolidated 
subsidiaries

associates or 
joint ventures total

non- 
consolidated 
subsidiaries

associates or 
joint ventures total

receivables from related parties 7 34 41 6 43 49

Liabilities to related parties 1 35 36 1 14 15

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS S. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.

related parties of the Linde group which are not compa-
nies comprise mainly the members of the group’s  executive 
board and supervisory board. during the reporting  period, 
there were no significant transactions between the 
Linde group and members of the executive board and 
supervisory board which are outside the bounds of ex-
isting employment, service and appointment agreements 
or remuneration contracts. 

some members of Linde’s executive and supervisory 
boards hold similar positions in other companies. Linde 
has normal business relationships with virtually all these 
companies. the sale and purchase of goods and services 
to and from these companies take place under the usual 
market conditions.
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[11] contingent liabilities and 
other financial commitments

in the normal course of business, the Linde group or any 
of its group companies are involved in current or foresee-
able legal or arbitration proceedings. during the reporting 
period, there have been no significant changes when com-
pared with the information provided about contingent 
liabilities and legal proceedings on pAGE 187 OF th E 2012 

fiNaNcial RepoRt. there were other financial commitments 
arising from investments in tangible assets and intangible 
assets (commitments arising from orders) at 30 septem-
ber 2013 of EUR 411 m (31 december 2012: EUR 414 m).

[12] reconciliation of 
key financial figures

to provide better comparability, the key financial figures 
relating to the Linde group have been adjusted below for 
the effects of the purchase price allocation in accordance 
with IFRS 3 on the acquisition of BOC and on acquisitions 
directly related to the BOC transaction.

32 aDjusteD financial fiGuRes

January to september

in € million

2013 2012 adjusted 1

as reported
non-gaaP 

adjustments

adjusted 
key 

financial 
figures as reported

non-gaaP 
adjustments

adjusted 
key 

financial 
figures

revenue 12,468 – 12,468 11,469 – 11,469

cost of sales –7,939 36 –7,903 –7,275 46 –7,229

GROSS pROFIT 4,529 36 4,565 4,194 46 4,240

research and development costs, marketing, 
selling and administration expenses –3,015 134 –2,881 –2,759 151 –2,608

other operating income and expenses 115 – 115 71 – 71
share of profit or loss from associates and joint 
ventures (at equity) 15 – 15 9 – 9

ebIT 1,644 170 1,814 1,515 197 1,712

Financial result –288 – –288 –251 – –251

taxes on income –278 –73 –351 –293 –74 –367

pROFIT FOR The YeAR 1,078 97 1,175 971 123 1,094

attributable to Linde AG shareholders 997 97 1,094 893 123 1,016

attributable to non-controlling interests 81 – 81 78 – 78

EARNINGs PER shARE IN € – UNDIlUTED 5.38 – 5.90 5.09 – 5.79

EARNINGs PER shARE IN € – DIlUTED 5.35 – 5.88 5.05 – 5.75

1 Adjusted for the effects of the first-time retrospective application of new or revised IFRS s. See also Note 1 in the Notes to the Group interim report.
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[13] discretionary decisions 
and estimates

the preparation of the group interim report in accordance 
with IFRS requires discretionary decisions and estimates 
for some items which might have an effect on their rec-
ognition and measurement in the statement of financial 
position and statement of profit or loss. the actual amounts 
realised may differ from these estimates. estimates are 
required in particular for:

 the assessment of the need to recognise and the meas-
urement of impairment losses relating to intangible 
assets, tangible assets and inventories,

 the recognition and measurement of pension obliga-
tions,

 the recognition and measurement of other provisions,
 the assessment of the stage of completion of long-term 

construction contracts, 
 the assessment of lease transactions,
 the measurement of assets acquired and liabilities as-

sumed in the course of business combinations.

any change in the key factors which are applied in impair-
ment reviews of goodwill, other intangible assets, tangi-
ble assets or inventories may possibly result in higher or 
lower impairment losses or no impairment losses at all 
being recognised.

the obligation arising from defined benefit commit-
ments is determined on the basis of actuarial assumptions. 
any change in the assumptions would have no effect on 
earnings, as actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
directly in equity.

the recognition and measurement of other provisions 
are based on the assessment of the probability of an out-
flow of resources to settle the obligation, and on past ex-
perience and circumstances known at the balance sheet 
date. the actual amount utilised may therefore differ from 
the figure set aside under other provisions.

the assessment of the stage of completion of long-term 
construction contracts is based on the percentage of com-
pletion method, subject to certain conditions being met. 
the stage of completion of the contract is determined on 
the basis of the proportion that contract costs incurred for 
work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract 
costs. For major projects, the calculation and analysis of 
the stage of completion of the project take into account 
in particular contract costs incurred by subcontractors. 
external experts are sometimes used to assist with the 
calculation of these costs.

discretionary decisions are required to be made, for 
example, in assessing whether all the substantial risks and 
rewards incidental to the ownership of an asset have in 
fact been transferred to the lessee. to establish whether 
an embedded finance lease exists in respect of Linde’s 
on-site plants, assumptions need to be made about the 

allocation of the consideration received from the customer. 
if the measurement was made on a different basis, this 
could lead to a different classification of the plants. 

business combinations require estimates to be made 
when determining fair values for assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired, as well as for contingent 
components of the purchase price. the nature of the es-
timates depends on the measurement methods applied. 
When discounted cash flow methods are used, primarily to 
measure intangible assets (but also to calculate contingent 
consideration), discretionary aspects include the length 
and breadth of the cash flow and the determination of an 
appropriate discount rate. if cost-based methods are used, 
the main discretionary element is the assessment of the 
comparability of the reference objects with the objects 
to be measured. When making discretionary decisions 
about purchase price allocations in the case of significant 
business combinations, Linde takes advice from experts 
in the field, who assist in arriving at the decisions and 
provide reports backing their opinions.
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[14] events after the balance 
sheet date

no significant events have occurred for the Linde group 
between the end of the reporting period on 30 septem-
ber 2013 and the publication deadline for these condensed 
group interim financial statements on 29 october 2013.
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revieW report

to Linde aktiengesellschaft, munich

We have reviewed the condensed interim consolidated 
financial statements – comprising the group statement 
of profit or loss, the group statement of comprehensive 
income, the group statement of financial position, the 
group statement of cash flows, the statement of changes 
in group equity and selected explanatory notes – together 
with the group interim management report of the Linde 
aktiengesellschaft, munich, for the period from 1 Janu-
ary to 30 september 2013 that are part of the quarterly 
financial report according to § 37x (3) german securities 
trading act (WpHg). the preparation of the condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with those IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting 
as adopted by the EU, and of the group interim manage-
ment report in accordance with the requirements of the 
WpHg applicable to interim group management reports, 
is the responsibility of the company’s management. our 
responsibility is to issue a report on the condensed interim 
consolidated financial statements and on the group interim 
management report based on our review.

We performed our review of the condensed interim con-
solidated financial statements and the group interim man-
agement report in accordance with the german generally 
accepted standards for the review of financial statements 
promulgated by the institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer e.v. (IDW) 
and in supplementary compliance with the international 
standard on review engagements 2410 (ISRE 2410). those 
standards require that we plan and perform the review 
so that we can preclude through critical evaluation, with 
a certain level of assurance, that the condensed interim 
consolidated financial statements have not been prepared, 
in material aspects, in accordance with the IFRS applicable 
to interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU, and 
that the interim group management report has not been 
prepared, in material aspects, in accordance with the re-
quirements of the WpHg applicable to interim group man-
agement reports. a review is limited primarily to inquiries 
of company employees and analytical assessments and 
therefore does not provide the assurance attainable in a 
financial statement audit. since, in accordance with our 
engagement, we have not performed a financial statement 
audit, we cannot issue an auditors’ report.

based on our review, no matters have come to our 
attention that cause us to presume that the condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements have not been 
prepared, in material respects, in accordance with the IFRS 

applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted by the 
EU, or that the group interim management report has not 
been prepared, in material respects, in accordance with 
the requirements of the WpHg applicable to interim group 
management reports.
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responsibiLity 
statement

to the best of our knowledge and belief, and in accord-
ance with the applicable accounting principles for interim 
reporting, the interim consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial po-
sition and profit or loss of the group, and the group in-
terim management report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
position of the group, together with a description of the 
principal opportunities and risks associated with the ex-
pected development of the group in the remaining part 
of the financial year.

m u n i c H ,  2 8  o c t o b e r  2 0 1 3

p r o F e s s o r  d r  W o L F g a n g  r e i t Z L e
[ c H i e F  e X e c u t i v e  o F F i c e r 

o F  L i n d e  a g ]

p r o F e s s o r  d r  a L d o  b e L L o n i
[ m e m b e r  o F  t H e  e X e c u t i v e  b o a r d

o F  L i n d e  a g ]

t H o m a s  b L a d e s
[ m e m b e r  o F  t H e  e X e c u t i v e  b o a r d

o F  L i n d e  a g ]

g e o r g  d e n o K e
[ m e m b e r  o F  t H e  e X e c u t i v e  b o a r d

o F  L i n d e  a g ]

s a n J i v  L a m b a
[ m e m b e r  o F  t H e  e X e c u t i v e  b o a r d

o F  L i n d e  a g ]

R e v I e w R ep O R T <39
REsPONs Ib I l I T y sTATEMENT 40

F I N A N C I A L C A L eN DA R >41

r
es

P
O

n
si

b
iL

it
Y 

st
a

te
m

en
t

L I N D E  I N t E r I m  r E P O r t  J A N U A r Y  t O  S E P t E m b E r  2 0 13



41

FinanciaL caLendar

[ 1 ]
a u t u m n  p r e s s  c o n F e r e n c e
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[ 9 ]
d i v i d e n d  p a y m e n t

21 may 2014

L I N D E  I N t E r I m  r E P O r t  J A N U A r Y  t O  S E P t E m b E r  2 0 13



42
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additional copies of the report and further in-
formation about Linde can be obtained from us 
free of charge.
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